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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The directors of RMB Holdings Limited 

(RMH or the company) are required by 

the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (Companies 

Act), to prepare consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements.

In discharging this responsibility, the directors 

rely on management to prepare the 

consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and for 

keeping adequate accounting records in 

accordance with the group’s system of 

internal control.

As such, the annual financial statements 

include amounts based on judgments 

and estimates made by management.

In preparing the annual financial statements, 

suitable accounting policies have been 

applied and reasonable estimates have 

been made by management. The directors 

approve changes to accounting policies. 

However, there were no changes to 

accounting policies during the financial 

year. The annual financial statements 

incorporate full and appropriate disclosure 

in line with the group’s philosophy on good 

corporate governance.

The directors are responsible for the group’s 

system of internal control. To enable the 

directors to meet these responsibilities, the 

directors set the standards for internal 

control to reduce the risk of error or loss in a 

cost-effective manner. The standards include 

the appropriate delegation of responsibilities 

within a clearly defined framework, effective 

accounting procedures and adequate 

segregation of duties to ensure an 

acceptable level of risk. The focus of risk 

management in the group is on identifying, 

assessing, managing and monitoring all 

known forms of risk across the group.

Based on the information and explanations 

given by management and the internal 

auditor, nothing has come to the attention 

of the directors to indicate that the internal 

controls are inadequate and that the 

financial records may not be relied on in 

preparing the consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements in accordance 

with IFRS and maintaining accountability 

for the group’s assets and liabilities.

Nothing has come to the attention of the 

directors to indicate any breakdown in the 

functioning of internal controls, resulting in 

a material loss to the group, during the year 

and up to the date of this report.

Based on the effective internal controls 

implemented by management, the 

directors are satisfied that the consolidated 

and separate annual financial statements 

fairly present the state of affairs of the group 

and company at the end of the financial 

year and the net income and cash flows for 

the year. HL Bosman, LLM, CFA supervised 

the preparation of the financial statements 

for the year.

The directors have reviewed the group 

and company’s budget and flow of funds 

forecast and considered the group and 

company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in the light of current and 

anticipated economic conditions. The 

directors have reviewed the assumptions 

underlying these budgets and forecasts, 

based on currently available information. 

On the basis of this review and in the light 

of the current financial position and 

profitable trading history, the directors are 

satisfied that the group has adequate 

resources to continue in business for the 

foreseeable future. The going concern basis 

therefore continues to apply and has been 

adopted in the preparation of the annual 

financial statements.

It is the responsibility of the group’s 

independent external auditor, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., to give an 

opinion on the fair presentation of the 

annual financial statements.

Their unqualified report appears on  
pages 10 to 15.

The consolidated and separate annual 

financial statements, which appear 

on pages 16 to 61, were approved by the 

board of directors of RMH (the board) 

on 7 September 2018 and are signed 

on its behalf by:

JJ Durand HL Bosman

Chairman Chief executive

7 September 2018

1



DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a 

public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

SIGNATURES

EJ Marais

Company secretary

7 September 2018

Nature of business
RMH is the biggest shareholder in FirstRand 

Limited (FirstRand), South Africa’s largest 

banking group, with a 34% stake. RMH is the 

founding shareholder of FirstRand and views 

this as its core asset. RMH is represented 

on all FirstRand’s relevant strategic 

and governance forums, which provides 

FirstRand with a responsible and stable 

shareholder of reference.

On a selective basis, RMH invests in other 

banking and property businesses. During 

the current year, RMH Property invested 

in Atterbury Europe. The transaction was 

funded through preference share funding 

raised in terms of the RMH debt programme.

Share capital
Details of the company’s authorised share 
capital as at 30 June 2018 are shown in 
note 6 to the annual financial statements.

ORDINARY SHARES
There was no change in the authorised ordinary share capital during the year and no 

ordinary shares were issued during the year.

At the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the company, held on 

22 November 2017, a special resolution was passed authorising the board of the company 

or the board of a subsidiary of the company to approve the purchase of shares in RMH 

during the period up to and including the date of the following annual general meeting. 

The repurchase is limited in any one financial year to a cumulative maximum of 5% of the 

company’s issued share capital. This resolution is subject to the provisions of the Companies 

Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. No shares were purchased in the current or 

previous year.

PREFERENCE SHARES
During the current year there were no changes to the preference share capital issued 

by RMH. Details are disclosed in note 9 to the annual financial statements.

Shareholder analysis
Based on information disclosed by STRATE and investigations conducted on behalf of the 

company, the following shareholders have an interest of 5% or more in the issued ordinary 

share capital of the company as at 30 June:

% 2018 2017

Financial Securities Limited (Remgro) 28 28

Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited (Royal Bafokeng) 13 15

Public Investment Corporation (PIC) 8 8

LL Dippenaar 5 5

54 56
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Group results
A general review of the financial results 
of the group and the operations of its 
major investments is provided in the chief 
executive’s review and the portfolio 
review of the annual integrated report 
which is available on www.rmh.co.za.

Dividends
The following ordinary dividends were 

declared by RMH during the year 

under review:

 • An interim gross dividend for the 

six-month period ended 31 December 

2017 of 168.0 cents (2017:153.0 cents) 

per ordinary share, declared on 

7 March 2018 and paid on 3 April 2018.

 • A final gross dividend for the year 

ended 30 June 2018 of 183.0 cents 

(2017: 174.0 cents) per ordinary share, 

declared on 7 September 2018, payable 

on 8 October 2018.

The last day to trade in RMH shares on a 

cum-dividend basis in respect of the final 

dividend will be Tuesday, 2 October 2018, 

while the first day to trade ex-dividend will 

be Wednesday, 3 October 2018. The record 

date will be Friday, 5 October 2018 and the 

payment date Monday, 8 October 2018.

No dematerialisation or rematerialisation 

of shares may be done during the period 

Wednesday, 3 October 2018 to Friday, 

5 October 2018, both days inclusive.

Directorate
The directorate consists of: 

DIRECTORS
JJ Durand (chairman), HL Bosman 

(chief executive and financial director), 

JP Burger, P Cooper, (Ms) SEN De Bruyn, 

LL Dippenaar, PK Harris, (Ms) A Kekana, 

P Lagerström, (Ms) MM Mahlare, 

MM Morobe, R Mupita, O Phetwe, JA Teeger

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS
F Knoetze, DA Frankel and DR Wilson

CHANGES
Effective 31 March 2018, GT Ferreira 

(chairman), JW Dreyer and KC Shubane 

retired from the board. In addition to these 

members, PM Goss (lead independent 

director) retired on 10 April 2018.

The following directors joined the board, 

effective 31 March 2018: MM Mahlare, 

RT Mupita, JA Teeger and DA Frankel (as 

alternate to JA Teeger).

Directors’ interests in RMH
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
IN CONTRACTS
During the financial year, no contracts were 

entered into in which directors or officers of 

the company had an interest and which 

significantly affected the business of the 

group. The directors had no interest in any 

third party or company responsible for 

managing any of the business activities of 

the group, except to the extent that they 

are shareholders in RMH, as disclosed in this 

report. Arm’s length banking and assurance 

transactions entered into by the company’s 

directors with the group’s associate 

are disclosed in note 18 to the 

annual financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN ORDINARY SHARES OF RMH
According to the register of directors’ interests maintained by the company in accordance with section 30(4)(d) of the Companies Act, the 

directors have disclosed the following interests in the ordinary shares of RMH as at 30 June:

Audited

000’s

Direct
beneficial

Indirect
beneficial

Held by
associates

Total
2018 %

Total

2017

Executive

HL Bosman – – – –

Non-executive

GT Ferreira (chairman) (retired 31 March 2018) – – – – – 40 038

JJ Durand (appointed chairman 31 March 2018) – – – – – –

JP Burger – 1 234 – 1 234 0.09 1 234

P Cooper 750 – 3 061 3 811 0.27 3 811

SEN De Bruyn – – – – – -

LL Dippenaar – 75 096 233 75 329 5.34 75 329

JW Dreyer (retired 31 March 2018) – – – – – 1

PM Goss (retired 10 April 2018) – – – – – 12 120

PK Harris – 7 000 – 7 000 0.50 7 000

A Kekana – – – – – –

P Lagerström – – – – – –

MM Mahlare (appointed 31 March 2018) – – – – – –

MM Morobe – – – – – –

RT Mupita (appointed 31 March 2018) – – – – – –

O Phetwe (appointed 1 September 2017) – – – – – –

JA Teeger (appointed 31 March 2018) – 52 – 52 – –

KC Shubane (retired 31 March 2018) – – – – – 5

DA Frankel (alternate) (appointed 31 March 2018) – – – – – –

F Knoetze (alternate) – – – – – –

DR Wilson (alternate) – – – – – –

TOTAL 750 83 382 3 294 87 426 6.20 139 538

Since the end of the financial year to the date of this report, the interests of directors have remained unchanged.
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Directors’ emoluments and participation in incentive schemes
Directors’ emoluments and participation in incentive schemes are disclosed below.

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICER EMOLUMENTS (AUDITED)

R’000

Services
as director

For other
services

Cash
packages

Other
benefits1

Perfor-
mance-
related

Total
2018

Total

2017

Executive and prescribed officer

HL Bosman – charged by RMI – – 2 454 323 – 2 777 2 550

Non-executive

GT Ferreira (chairman) (retired 31 March 2018) 248 – – – – 248 314

JJ Durand (appointed chairman 31 March 2018)2 209 – – – – 209 50

JP Burger3 167 – – – – 167 158

P Cooper4 167 – – – 36 722 36 889 158

SEN de Bruyn 232 – – – – 232 213

LL Dippenaar 167 – – – – 167 158

JW Dreyer (retired 31 March 2018) 196 – – – – 196 249

PM Goss (retired 10 April 2018) 129 – – – – 129 158

PK Harris 167 – – – – 167 158

A Kekana5 167 – – – – 167 158

P Lagerström 221 – – – – 221 209

MM Mahlare (appointed 31 March 2018) 43 – – – – 43 -

Murphy Morobe 170 – – – – 170 158

RT Mupita6  (appointed 31 March 2018) 43 – – – – 43 -

O Phetwe (appointed 1 September 2017) 140 – – – – 140 -

JA Teeger (appointed 31 March 2018) 50 – – – – 50 -

KC Shubane (retired 31 March 2018) 124 – – – – 124 158

DA Frankel (alternate) (appointed 31 March 2018) 43 – – – – 43 -

F Knoetze (alternate) – – – – – - 109

DR Wilson (alternate) – – – – – - -

TOTAL 2 683 – 2 454 323 36 722 42 182 4 958

Notes:
1.  “Other benefits” comprise provident fund, pension fund and medical aid contributions. The pension and provident fund contribution amounted to R247k 

(2017: R234k).
2. Directors’ fees for services rendered by JJ Durand were paid to the Remgro group.
3. Directors’ fees for services rendered by JP Burger were paid to FirstRand.
4. During the current year, all outstanding RMH share appreciation rights awarded to P Cooper during his executive employment matured. Refer page 6 for detail.
5. Directors’ fees for services rendered by A Kekana were paid to Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited.
6. Directors’ fees for services rendered by RT Mupita were paid to MTN Group Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS PAID BY ASSOCIATE

R’000

Total
2018

Total

2017

Non-executive

JP Burger¹ 49 378 46 340

HL Bosman² 774 170

P Cooper (resigned 30 April 2017) – 155

LL Dippenaar (retired 31 March 2018) 3 933 5 566

JJ Durand³ 884 837

PM Goss (retired 10 April 2018) 853 1 219

PK Harris 444 598

F Knoetze³ 2 239 1 692

TOTAL 58 505 56 577

Notes:
1.  This amount includes JP Burger’s total earnings for the year from FirstRand as an executive director. His remuneration includes total compensation for being 

a prescribed officer of FirstRand.  Prescribed officer remuneration disclosure has been aligned with King IV single figure reporting, which requires the disclosure 
of the performance-related incentives (both cash and deferred) in respect of the year and delivery of the past years long-term incentive awards (CIP) 
dependent on the fulfilment of the conditions during the year. The long-term CIP included in JP Burger’s remuneration is the CIP settled in the financial year 
at original award value.

2. Directors’ fees for services rendered by HL Bosman were paid to RMH.
3. Directors’ fees for services rendered by JJ Durand and F Knoetze were paid to the Remgro group.

DIRECTORS’ PARTICIPATION IN RMH SHARE SCHEMES (AUDITED)

Share

Strike price

(cents)

Exercise

date

Opening

balance

as at 

1 July 2017

000’s

Issued 
000’s

Forfeited
000’s

Exercised
000’s

Closing
balance

as at
30 June

2018
000’s

Benefit

derived 

R’000

RMH share 

appreciation rights

P Cooper RMH 3 582 14/09/2015 275 – – (275) – 7 606 

RMH 3 582 14/09/2016 275 – – (275) – 7 606 

RMH 3 582 14/09/2017 275 – – (275) – 7 606 

RMH 4 341 14/09/2016 73 – – (73) – 2 019 

RMH 4 341 14/09/2017 73 – – (73) – 2 019 

RMH 4 341 14/09/2018 72 – – (72) – 1 991 

HL Bosman RMH 4 781 02/04/2017 126 – 126 3 073

RMH 4 781 02/04/2018 126 – – – 126 3 073

RMH 4 781 02/04/2019 126 – – – 126 3 073

RMH 6 395 14/09/2018 6 – – – 6 47

RMH 6 395 14/09/2019 6 – – – 6 47

RMH 6 395 14/09/2020 6 – – – 6 47

RMH 6 039 14/09/2019 40 – – – 40 470

RMH 6 039 14/09/2020 40 – – – 40 470

RMH 6 039 14/09/2021 40 – – – 40 470

RMH 6 603 14/09/2020 – 36 – – 36 220

RMH 6 603 14/09/2021 – 36 – – 36 220

RMH 6 603 14/09/2022 – 36 – – 36 220

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018 6



DIRECTORS’ PARTICIPATION IN RMH OWNERSHIP PARTICIPATION STRUCTURE (AUDITED)

 

Number

of shares

granted 

Percentage

holding

%

Value 

per share

R

Hurdle
rate 

%

Value
granted

R'000

Movement
during 

the year
R'000

Closing
balance 

as at 
30 June 

2018
R'000

HL Bosman RMH Property Holdco 1 

Proprietary Limited 250 2.50 – Prime – – – 

RMH Property Holdco 2 

Proprietary Limited 250 2.50 – Prime – – – 

RMH Property Holdco 3 

Proprietary Limited 250 2.50 – Prime – – – 

RMH Property Holdco 4 

Proprietary Limited 250 2.50 – Prime – – – 

Special resolutions
A full list of the special resolutions passed by the company during 

the year is available to shareholders on request.

Events subsequent to reporting date
Other than for the final dividend declaration, subsequent to the 

year-end, FirstRand concluded a transaction with Discovery, through 

the issuance of preference shares, for the ultimate transfer and 

disposal of its remaining effective 25.01% interest in Discovery Card 

and Discovery Bank, respectively. The consideration for this 

transaction is R1.8 billion, which, together with the preference share 

issuance of R1.3 billion in 2016, results in a total value unlock for 

FirstRand shareholders of approximately R3 billion. As at 30 June 

2018, FNB’s assets include Discovery Card advances with a gross 

value of R4.4 billion, which will also be transferred at carrying value. 

This transaction is expected to be concluded during the financial 

year ending 30 June 2019.

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements were 

approved and signed by the chairman and chief executive on 

7 September 2018, having been duly authorised to do so by 

the board of directors.

Directors’ service contracts
All eligible, non-executive directors are elected for a period of 

three years. All executive directors have a notice period of one 

month. Directors and prescribed officers are not entitled to 

additional compensation in the event of being removed from 

office.

Insurance
RMH has appropriate insurance cover against crime risks as well 

as professional indemnity.

Company secretary 
and registered address
EJ Marais is the company secretary. Her address is that of the 

company’s registered office. The company’s registered office is at:

3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia 

Road, Sandton, 2196.
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THIS COMMITTEE IS THE GUARDIAN OF THE FOLLOWING 
FORM OF CAPITAL:

FINANCIAL

The audit and risk committee has 
pleasure in submitting this report, as 
required in terms of the companies act.

Audit and risk committee membership 
and meetings
The audit and risk committee is an independent statutory 

committee and consists of three non-executive directors who act 

independently, as described in section 94 of the Companies Act. 

Members are appointed by the shareholders. The current members 

are the chairperson, SEN de Bruyn LLB (Hons) LSE MA (McGill) 

SFA, P Lagerström BSc (Accounting) MSc (Economics) (London 

School of Economics) and JA Teeger BComm BAcc CA(SA) HDIP 

Tax. The previous chairman, JW Dreyer, retired from the board in 

March 2018 and, at the same time, relinquished his position as 

chairman and member of the audit and risk committee

The chairperson is an independent, non-executive director and 

attends the annual general meeting. The committee meets at least 

twice a year or at the request of the chairperson, any member 

of the committee, the board or the external auditor. 

Comprehensive minutes of meetings are kept. The chief executive/

financial director attends the meetings. The committee invites, at its 

discretion, the appropriate representatives of the external auditor, 

other professional advisors, officers or members of staff whose input 

may be required. Board members have the right to attend. The 

chairman may excuse from the meeting or from the proceedings in 

respect of any item on the agenda any of the attendees at a 

meeting who may be considered to have a conflict of interest.

During the year under review, two meetings were held. 

Attendance and membership of the committee 
are reflected in the table in the annual 
integrated report available on www.rmh.co.za. 

Roles and responsibilities
At the meetings, the members fulfilled all their functions as 

prescribed by section 94 (7) of the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 

Requirements and its charter, which is updated annually and 

approved by the board. The committee’s objectives are to assist 

the board of directors in fulfilling its fiduciary duties with  regard to:

 • The safeguarding of the group’s assets;

 • The financial reporting process;

 • The system of internal control;

 • The management of financial and non-financial risks;

 • The audit process and approval of non-audit services;

 • The group’s process for monitoring compliance with the laws and 

regulations applicable to it;

 • The group’s compliance with corporate governance practices;

 • Review of the annual integrated report, including key audit 

matters outlined in the external auditor’s report;

 • The business conduct of the group and its officials;

 • Ensuring that the accounting policies applied are consistent, 

appropriate and in compliance with IFRS; and

 • The appointment of the external auditor and the evaluation of 

their services and independence.

Integrated assurance
The board does not only rely on the adequacy of the internal 

control embedding process, but considers reports on the 

effectiveness of risk management activities. The audit and risk 

committee ensures that the assurance functions of management 

as well as internal and external audit are sufficiently integrated.

The various assurance providers to the board comprise the 

following:

 • Senior management, that considers the company’s risk strategy 

and policy, along with the effectiveness and efficiency thereof; 

and

 • The audit and risk committee, which considers the adequacy of 

risk management strategies, systems of internal control, risk 

profiles, legal compliance, internal and external audit reports and 

also reviews the independence of the external auditor, the 

extent and nature of audit engagements, scope of work and 

findings. This committee also reviews the level of disclosure in the 

annual financial statements and the appropriateness of 

accounting policies adopted by management, the ethics 

register and other loss incidents reported. The board reviews the 

performance of the audit and risk committee against its charter.

AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE REPORT
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The finance function
The committee considered and satisfied itself of the 

appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the 

finance function. The committee reviewed the performance, 

appropriateness and expertise of the financial director, HL Bosman, 

and the company secretary, EJ Marais, and confirms that they are 

suitable as financial director and company secretary respectively in 

terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

Effectiveness of company’s internal 
financial controls
The committee reports to the board that it is of the opinion that, 

based on enquiries made and the reports from the internal 

and external auditors, the risk management processes and systems 

of internal control of the company and its investments were 

effective for the year under review. No material weaknesses in 

financial control of the company and its subsidiaries were reported 

for the year under review.

External audit
The audit and risk committee considered the performance of the 

external auditor and concluded that their performance 

was satisfactory. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was re-appointed as 

external auditor of the company until the next annual general 

meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the external 

auditor of RMH for 30 years. Prior to the formation of RMH, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. were the sole auditor of RCI Limited 

for 11 years. The partner responsible for the audit is required to 

rotate every five years. The designated auditor, Francois Prinsloo, 

will be rotated at the conclusion of the 2018 year-end audit.

In reaching this conclusion, the committee considered the 

following:

 • Representations made by the external auditors to the audit 

committee;

 • Independence criteria specified by the Independent Regulatory 

Board for Auditors and international regulatory bodies as well as 

criteria for internal governance processes within audit firms;

 • Auditor suitability assessment in terms of paragraph 3.84(g) (iii) 

and section 22.15(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements;

 • Previous appointments of the auditors; and

 • Extent of other work undertaken by the auditors for the group.

Details of fees paid to the external auditor are disclosed in note 
13 to the annual financial statements. All non-audit services were 
approved by the committee before engagement during the 
current financial year.

The committee meets with the external auditor independently of 
senior management.

Findings reported by the external auditors were duly considered, 

specifically the key audit matters for the 2018 year, as reported in 

the independent auditor’s report. The committee is satisfied that 

all these matters are appropriately reflected in the annual 

financial statements.

See pages 11 to 14 for an analysis of the 
significant audit matters which arose during 
the audit and how they were addressed.

Internal audit
The company outsources its internal audit function to Remgro 

Management Services Limited. Internal audit is an effective 

independent appraisal function and employs a risk-based audit 

approach. The head of internal audit has direct access to the 

chairman of the audit and risk committee, as well as to the 

chairman of the board.

The audit and risk committee is of the opinion that, based on 

enquiries made and the reports from the internal and external 

auditors, the risk management processes and systems of internal 

control of the company and its subsidiaries were effective for the 

year under review. 

Annual financial statements
The audit and risk committee has reviewed and recommended 

approval of the group and company annual financial statements 

by the board. 

Focus during the year ahead
The committee shall continue to attend to its roles and 

responsibilities during the year ahead. In addition, it will pay 

particular attention to the following:

 • Rotation of the designated external auditor in line with the rules 

of the Independent Regulatory Board of Auditors;

 • Implementation and disclosure of new accounting standards, in 

particular IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

 • Ensuring that any new regulatory requirements are fully met.

The committee has discharged all its responsibilities as contained in 

its charter.

SEN de Bruyn

Chairperson of the audit and risk committee

7 September 2018

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT continued



To the shareholders of RMB Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements
OUR OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of RMB Holdings Limited (the company) and its subsidiaries (together the group) as at 30 June 2018, and its 

consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited
RMB Holdings Limited’s consolidated and separate annual financial statements set out on pages 16 to 61 comprise: 

 • The consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 30 June 2018;

 • The consolidated and separate income statements for the year then ended;

 • The consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

 • The consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;

 • The consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

 • The notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under these standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements section of our report 

on page 15. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for 

Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South 

Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 

requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board 

for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). 

Our audit approach
OVERVIEW

Materiality

Group  
scoping

Key audit  
matters

Overall group materiality

Overall group materiality: R425 million, which represents 

5% of consolidated profit before tax.

Group audit scope

The components that are in scope include the 

financially significant components of the group. 

The main indicators used to identify significant 

components were revenue and profit before tax. 

Key audit matters

Equity accounted earnings of FirstRand Limited 

and its subsidiaries.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgments, for example, in respect of 

significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 

audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including amongst other matters, consideration of whether 

there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

MATERIALITY
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance that the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, 

individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 

consolidated annual financial statements.

Based on our professional judgment, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group materiality 

for the consolidated annual financial statements as a whole, as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, 

helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 

misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality R425 million

How we determined it 5% of consolidated profit before tax

Rationale for the materiality 

benchmark applied

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the benchmark 

against which the performance of the group is most commonly measured by users and is a 

generally accepted benchmark. We chose 5%, which is consistent with quantitative 

materiality thresholds used for profit-oriented companies in this sector.

HOW WE TAILORED OUR GROUP AUDIT SCOPE 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated annual financial 

statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which 

the group operates.

We conducted an audit of all financially significant subsidiaries and associates of the group. For the work performed by component auditors 

from other PwC network firms in South Africa and, for in-scope subsidiaries and associates, by auditors not part of the PwC network operating 

under our instruction, we issued group instructions and performed cross-reviews on their audit working papers on an ongoing basis. We 

determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work of those component teams to be satisfied that sufficient audit 

evidence had been obtained for the purposes of our opinion. We kept regular communication with audit teams throughout the audit 

and appropriately directed their audits.

Further audit procedures were performed by the group engagement team, including analytical review procedures over the remaining 

balances and substantive procedures over the consolidation process. The work carried out at the component levels, together with these 

additional procedures performed at the group level, provided us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion on the group as a whole.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 

separate annual financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 

and separate annual financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters.

The following key audit matter relates to the consolidated annual financial statements. We have determined that there are no key 

audit matters to communicate in our report with regard to the audit of the separate annual financial statements of the company 

for the current period.
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Key audit matter relevant to the consolidated 
annual financial statements

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EQUITY ACCOUNTED EARNINGS OF FIRSTRAND LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Refer to note 4 in the annual financial statements on pages 32 to 34

The group accounts for its investments in 

associates under the equity method. The group 

has 34.1% ownership interest in its most significant 

associate, FirstRand Limited. For the purposes of 

this audit report, FirstRand Limited and its 

subsidiaries are collectively referred to as 

“FirstRand”. The group’s share of the after-tax 

profits of FirstRand for the year ended 

30 June 2018 was R9 043 million and the group’s 

share of FirstRand’s net assets was R41 229 million 

as at 30 June 2018. 

FirstRand’s equity accounted earnings contribute 

significantly to RMH’s consolidated financial results. 

There is also significant management judgment 

involved in the determination of the after-tax 

profits of FirstRand, as summarised in the following 

section. Due to underlying complexities in the 

judgment involved at the FirstRand level, we 

treated the equity accounted earnings of 

FirstRand as a matter of most significance to the 

audit of the consolidated annual financial 

statements of the current financial year. 

In the context of our audit of the consolidated 

annual financial statements, the key audit matters 

relating to the group’s share of the profits and net 

assets of FirstRand are summarised as follows:

We obtained the audited financial results of FirstRand, evaluated the consistency 

of its accounting policies with those of the group and compared them to the equity 

accounted results and movements recorded in the consolidated annual financial 

statements. We found no exceptions. 

Due to the significance of the group’s share of the after-tax profits in FirstRand, we 

maintained continual interaction with the FirstRand audit team and involvement in 

their work. We evaluated the identified audit risks at the FirstRand level and the 

audit approach throughout all phases of the audit process, examined working 

papers and performed cross-review procedures in evaluating the results of the work. 

We also evaluated the impact of the key audit matters relating to FirstRand on the 

group’s consolidated annual financial statements.

Based on the work executed by the component team in accordance with our 

instructions and the procedures noted above, we have determined that the audit 

work performed and audit evidence obtained were sufficient for our purpose. 

The procedures performed on the respective key audit matters included 

the following:

Valuation of complex financial instruments which are subject to judgment 

The valuation of FirstRand’s complex financial 

instruments requires significant judgment by 

FirstRand management in the application of 

valuation methodologies as well as the 

determination of key assumptions relating to inputs 

other than unadjusted quoted prices in active 

markets that FirstRand can access at 

measurement date.

FirstRand’s financial instruments impacted 

by subjective assumptions include:

 • Advances book carried at fair value;

 • Complex derivative financial instruments 

(primarily those which are longer dated and 

valued with reference to unobservable inputs); 

and

 • Investment securities valued with reference 

to unobservable assumptions which would 

primarily be unlisted equities.

The audit of the valuation of the fair value advances book, complex derivative 

instruments and investment securities where these utilised judgmental assumptions 

included, inter alia, the following audit procedures which were performed with the 

assistance of valuation experts:

 • The design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the relevant financial 

reporting controls relating to valuations were tested;

 • The technical and practical appropriateness and accuracy of valuation 

methodologies (including key assumptions made and modelling approaches 

adopted) applied by FirstRand management with reference to market practice, 

practical constraints on the ability to apply the methodologies to the instruments 

being valued and consistency with prior periods were evaluated;

 • For selected financial instruments, the fair values were independently 

recalculated; 

 • The appropriateness and sensitivity of unobservable market rates, projected 

cash flows and valuation adjustments, with reference to the best available 

independent information, were assessed; and

 • The completeness, accuracy and adequacy of the disclosures were assessed.

Impairment of advances 
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Key audit matter relevant to the consolidated 
annual financial statements

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The impairment of advances is significant to the 

FirstRand financial statements, given the 

considerable judgment required to be applied by 

its management in the recognition and 

measurement of credit risk. 

Corporate advances are typically individually 

significant and the calculation of impairments 

is inherently judgmental in nature. The impact 

of macroeconomic events, including negative 

economic sentiment and volatility on global 

markets, result in a challenging operating 

environment and may have an impact on the 

credit risk of underlying counterparties.

Retail advances are typically higher volume, lower 

value and therefore a significant portion of the 

impairment is calculated on a portfolio basis. This 

requires the use of statistical models incorporating 

data and assumptions which are not always 

necessarily observable.

FirstRand management also evaluates the overall 

portfolio provisions, as determined by the model, 

and may, in certain circumstances, recognise 

additional provisions (in the form of overlays) 

where there is uncertainty in respect of the 

model’s ability to address specific trends or 

conditions due to inherent limitations of modelling 

based on past performance, the timing of model 

updates and macroeconomic events which could 

impact customers and clients.

The audit of the impairment of advances included, inter alia, the following 

audit procedures with the assistance of credit experts:

 • Across all significant portfolios the advances impairment practices applied 

by FirstRand management were assessed against the requirements of IFRS and 

for consistency with prior periods. In addition, the design, implementation and 

operating effectiveness of relevant controls over the processes used to calculate 

impairments, including controls relating to data and models, were tested; and

 • The potential for impairment to be affected by events which were not captured 

by the model assumptions due to timing or other inherent limitations (such 

as changes in economic conditions), were considered and how FirstRand 

had responded to these by making further adjustments, where appropriate, 

(in the form of overlays), was evaluated.

Corporate advances
 • Inputs which are subject to significant judgment, including the timing and 

quantum of expected future cash flows, were identified and assessed for 

reasonableness for individually significant advances. The appropriateness 

of assumptions made by FirstRand management in determining the level 

of impairment, including the probability of default and valuation of collateral, 

were assessed against actual experience and industry practice; 

 • A reasonable range of significant impairment losses was independently 

calculated and the level raised by FirstRand management was compared 

to this range; 

 • A sample of legal agreements and supporting documentation was inspected 

to assess the legal right to and existence of collateral. The collateral valuation 

methodologies applied were also assessed against historical experience and 

industry practice;

 • A sample of counterparties from high-risk industries or high-risk geographical 

locations was selected and tested for potential impairment by using historical 

data and best available external evidence to assess the appropriateness of 

recognised impairments; and

 • A sample of advances, that had not been identified as impaired, was selected 

and it was determined if this was reasonable by forming an independent view 

on whether a specific impairment should be recognised.

Retail advances
 • The appropriateness of the models, as well as the data and assumptions used 

by FirstRand management, were assessed where impairments were calculated 

on a modelled basis (portfolio impairments and specific impairments for certain 

high-volume books). This included:

 – Comparing those assumptions which could have a material impact with 

actual experience and industry practice; and

 – Testing the operation of impairment models, including, where required, building 

an independent assessment and comparing these results to those of FirstRand 

management and, where applicable, overlays held.

Identification and valuation of the identifiable assets and liabilities valued as part of the purchase price allocation 
as a result of the acquisition of Aldermore Group plc
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Key audit matter relevant to the consolidated 
annual financial statements

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FirstRand acquired 100% of Aldermore Group plc 

(Aldermore) with an effective date of 1 April 2018. 

A purchase price allocation (PPA) was performed 

in accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations 

(IFRS 3) by FirstRand management with the 

assistance of a valuation expert appointed 

by them.

The PPA is the identification and measurement 

of assets (tangible and intangible), liabilities and 

contingent liabilities, at fair value, with the excess 

of the acquisition cost over the identified fair 

values recognised as goodwill.

The most significant assumptions included the 

discount rate, cost of capital and attrition rates.

Procedures performed included, amongst others, the following:

 • It was assessed whether the effective date of the acquisition, as determined 

by FirstRand management, was in compliance with IFRS 3 through inspection 

of the salient terms and conditions of the purchase agreement; and

 • With the assistance of valuation experts, an independent assessment of the 

fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at acquisition date, 

including the identification and valuation of intangible assets and the resultant 

goodwill to be recognised, was performed.

This independent assessment was evaluated against FirstRand management’s 

expert’s assessment by performing the following procedures:

 • The competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation expert 

used by FirstRand management were assessed; 

 • The PPA report, as prepared by the external valuation expert, as well as the 

underlying supporting information were obtained and inspected;

 • Based on discussions with the expert and FirstRand management, reading 

the purchase agreements and an understanding of the business and industry, 

the process followed for the identification and measurement of the assets 

and liabilities acquired was critically assessed;

 • The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in relation to 

the audited statement of financial position of Aldermore as at 31 March 2018 

were assessed;

 • The valuation methodology adopted by FirstRand management was evaluated, 

with reference to accepted industry valuation techniques;

 • The mathematical accuracy of the valuation models was tested;

 • FirstRand management’s cash flow forecast was agreed to approved budgets, 

the actual performance of the business was compared with the prior budget, 

and discussions were held with FirstRand management on the reasonability 

of the forecasts utilised and management’s assessment; 

 • The underlying assumptions, including the discount rate, cost of capital and 

attrition rates used in management’s models were tested for reasonableness 

by benchmarking the assumptions to industry average rates; and

 • The appropriateness of the accounting treatment upon recognition of the 

identifiable assets and liabilities, inclusive of taxation consequences, was assessed.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Financial 

Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018, which includes the directors’ report, the audit and risk committee report and the declaration by 

the company secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report and 

the other sections of the Annual Integrated Report 2018, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information 

does not include the consolidated and separate annual financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the 
consolidated and separate annual 
financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 

Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group 

and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 

either intend to liquidate the group and/or the company or to 

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and separate 
annual financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated and separate annual financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

 • Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the 

override of internal control; 

 • Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the group’s and the company’s 

internal control; 

 • Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors; 

 • Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated and separate annual 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the group  

and/or company to cease to continue as a going concern; 

 • Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and 

separate annual financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation; and

 • Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, amongst other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and, where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine 

those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements of the 

current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 

not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 

Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of RMB Holdings 

Limited for 30 years. Prior to the formation of RMB Holdings Limited, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was the sole auditor of Rand 

Consolidated Investments Limited for 11 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Director: Francois Prinsloo

Registered Auditor 

Johannesburg

7 September 2018
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

R million Note

As at 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1 43 39 38 33

Loans and receivables 2 57 114 1 2 

Investment securities 3 523 334 202 211

Taxation receivable 4 5 4 5

Derivative financial instruments 3 55 8 36 8

Deferred tax asset 10 – 4 – –

Investment in associates 4 48 590 43 130 – –

Investment in subsidiaries 5 – – 13 024 12 652

TOTAL ASSETS 49 272 43 634 13 305 12 911

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the company's equity holders

Share capital and premium 6 8 825 8 825 8 825 8 825

Reserves 7 37 498 32 556 2 004 1 872 

TOTAL EQUITY 46 323 41 381 10 829 10 697

LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 8 232 81 1 257 999

Financial liabilities 9 2 692 2 154 1 202 1 197

Derivative financial instruments 3 – 6 – 6

Long-term liabilities – 1 – 1

Deferred tax liability 10 25 11 17 11

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2 949 2 253 2 476 2 214

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 49 272 43 634 13 305 12 911

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018 16



CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
INCOME STATEMENT 

R million Note

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue 11 26 16 5 068 4 540 

Share of after-tax profit of associate 4 8 812 8 374 – – 

Fee income 18 3 16 3 

Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities 12 (45) 6 25 6 

Net income 8 811 8 399 5 109 4 549 

Administration expenses 13 (56) (40) (46) (39) 

Income from operations 8 755 8 359 5 063 4 510 

Finance costs 14 (173) (152) (88) (148) 

Profit before tax 8 582 8 207 4 975 4 362 

Income tax expense 15 (22) (5) (15) (5) 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8 560 8 202 4 960 4 357 

Earnings per share (cents)

– Basic 16 606.5 581.2 

– Diluted 16 606.5 581.2 

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

R million Note

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Profit for the year 8 560 8 202 4 960 4 357 

Other comprehensive income after tax

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss

Share of other comprehensive profit/(loss) of associate after tax 

and non-controlling interest* 250 (742) – – 

Net profit/(loss) on available-for-sale financial asset 21 (14) – – 

Gains/(losses) arising during the year 27 (18) – – 

Deferred income tax (6) 4 – – 

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations 94 – – –

Items that may not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss

Share of other comprehensive loss of associate after tax  

and non-controlling interest 13 58 – – 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 378 (698) – – 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 8 938 7 504 4 960 4 357 

* Large movement due to translation of FirstRand's foreign operations.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

R million

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP

Share
capital

and
premium

Equity 
accounted

reserves
Available-for-
sale reserve

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Other
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total
equity

Balance as at 1 July 2016 8 825 26 245 – – 333 2 841 38 244 

Total comprehensive income – (684) (14) – – 8 202 7 504 

Dividends paid – – – – – (4 320) (4 320) 

Income of associates retained – 3 722 – – – (3 722) – 

Reserve movements relating to associates – 76 – – – (123) (47) 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2017 8 825 29 359 (14) – 333 2 878 41 381 

Balance as at 1 July 2017 8 825 29 359 (14) – 333 2 878 41 381 

Total comprehensive income – 263 21 94 – 8 560 8 938 

Dividends paid – – – – – (4 828) (4 828) 

Income of associates retained – 3 971 – – – (3 971) – 

Reserve movements relating to associates – 832 – – – – 832 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 8 825 34 425 7 94 333 2 639 46 323 

Note 6 7 7 7 7 7

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY

R million

For the year ended 30 June

COMPANY

Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total
equity

Balance as at 1 July 2016 14 8 811 333 1 502 10 660 

Total comprehensive income – – – 4 357 4 357 

Dividends paid – – – (4 320) (4 320) 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2017 14 8 811 333 1 539 10 697 

Balance as at 1 July 2017 14 8 811 333 1 539 10 697 

Total comprehensive income – – – 4 960 4 960 

Dividends paid – – – (4 828) (4 828) 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 14 8 811 333 1 671 10 829 

Note 6 6
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

R million Note

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operations A 5 201 4 404 5 296 5 431 

Income tax paid (8) (7) (8) (7) 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5 193 4 397 5 288 5 424 

Cash flow from investing activities

Investment in subsidiaries – – (372) (920) 

Investment in associates 4 (397) (699) – – 

Additions to investments securities (157) (141) – – 

Additions to derivatives (11) – – – 

NET CASH OUTFLOW IN INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (565) (840) (372) (920) 

Cash flow from financing activities B

Preference shares issued 372 – – – 

Borrowings withdrawn 5 957 5 – 

Borrowings repaid – (21) – (21) 

Interest paid (5) (64) – (64) 

Dividends paid on preference shares in issue (168) (88) (88) (84) 

Dividends paid to equity holders (4 828) (4 320) (4 828) (4 320) 

NET CASH OUTFLOW IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4 624) (3 536) (4 911) (4 489) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4 21 5 15 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 39 18 33 18 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 43 39 38 33 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

R million

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

8 582 8 207 4 975 4 362 

Profit before tax

Adjusted for:

Share of profits of associates including impairments (3 730) (3 846) – – 

Accruals – (1) (1) (1) 

Interest paid – 64 – 64 

Dividends paid on preference shares in issue 173 88 88 84 

Fair value adjustment (16) (7) (25) (7) 

Changes in working capital – – 

– Current receivables and prepayments (4) (111) 1 1 

– Current payables and provisions 196 10 258 928 

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 5 201 4 404 5 296 5 431 

B. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

Borrowings 2 531 2 154 1 202 1 197 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (43) (39) (38) (33) 

NET DEBT 2 488 2 115 1 164 1 164 

Gross borrowings – fixed rate 957 957 – – 

Gross borrowings – variable rate 1 574 1 197 1 202 1 197 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (43) (39) (38) (33) 

NET DEBT 2 488 2 115 1 164 1 164 
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Detailed accounting policies are reflected on pages 22 to 29. Below is a summary of key judgments and accounting elections.

RMH made the following accounting elections in terms of IFRS, with reference to the detailed accounting policy:

 • Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised using trade date accounting; and

 • Investment in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost in the separate annual financial statements.

RMH made the following key judgments in applying accounting policies:

 • Any impairment loss in an investment in an associate is recognised by comparing the carrying value to the recoverable amount. Further 

detail is provided in note 4;

 • In making the judgment regarding the impairment of financial assets, RMH evaluates factors such as, inter alia, evidence of a deterioration 

in the financial health of the issuer, industry and sector performance; and

 • Valuation of Level 3 fair value instruments uses valuation techniques with significant unobservable data. Further detail is provided in note 21.

KEY JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OPTIONS 
ELECTED, WHERE PERMITTED BY IFRS
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Amendments to IAS 7 and IAS 12 became effective in the current 

year. These amendments have not had an impact on the RMH’s 

reported earnings, financial position or reserves, or a material 

impact on the accounting policies.

a.  Basis of preparation
RMH’s consolidated and separate financial statements are 

prepared in accordance with IFRS, the requirements of the 

Companies Act, 71 of 2008, SAICA Financial Reporting Guide 

as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial 

Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 

Reporting Standard Council and the Listings Requirements 

of the JSE Limited.

The financial statements are prepared on a going 

concern basis. The preparation of the financial statements 

in conformity with IFRS necessitates the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 

to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 

group’s accounting policies. Although estimates are based 

on management’s best knowledge and judgments of 

current facts as at the reporting date, the actual outcome 

may differ from those estimates. The areas involving 

a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 

where assumptions and estimates are significant to 

the consolidated financial statements, are outlined 

in notes 4 and 21.

b.  Functional and presentation 
currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 

group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates 

(the functional currency). The group also has debt securities 

which were issued in a currency other than the functional 

currency of the company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in South 

African Rand, which is both the functional and presentation 

currency of the company. All amounts are stated in millions 

of Rand (R million), unless otherwise indicated.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies were adopted in preparing the 
consolidated and separate annual financial statements. The policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented. 

c. Equity accounting
The consolidated financial statements include the 

assets and liabilities of the holding company, the results 

of operations of the holding company and the share 

of net assets and equity accounted earnings 

of its associates.

 ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Associates are all entities over which the group has 

significant influence but not control or joint control. This is 

generally the case where the group holds between 20% 

and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 

accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after 

initially being recognised at cost. Accounting policies for 

associate companies are consistent with those of RMH.

  INITIAL RECOGNITION IN THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Associates are initially recognised at cost (including goodwill).

 SUBSEQUENT RECOGNITION
Investment in associates are subsequently equity accounted. 

The group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is 

recognised in the income statement and its share of 

post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income 

is recognised in other comprehensive income, with a 

corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the 

investment. Other equity movements are assessed based 

on the substance of the transaction and accounted for 

accordingly, with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 

amount of the investment. Equity accounted earnings, 

net of dividends received, are transferred to equity 

accounted reserves.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign 

controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive 

income as described in note 7 and accumulated in a 

separate reserve as part of equity. The cumulative amount 

is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment 

is disposed of.
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  INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS 
AND BALANCES
Unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated to the extent 

of the group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are 

also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence 

of an impairment of the transferred asset.

 IMPAIRMENT
The group applies the indicators of impairment in IAS 39 

to determine whether an impairment test is required. The 

extent of the impairment is determined by comparing the 

investment’s recoverable amount with its carrying amount 

as determined in accordance with IAS 36.

Any resulting impairment losses are recognised as part 

of the share of profits or losses from associates.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, 

but only to the extent that the investment’s carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

 GOODWILL
Notional goodwill on the acquisition of associates is included 

in the equity accounted carrying amount of the investment.

 DILUTION GAINS AND LOSSES
Dilution gains and losses arising in the investments 

in associates are recognised in profit and loss.

 FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Certain equity accounted investments have year-ends 

that differ from that of RMH. In such circumstances, 

the management accounts of the equity accounted 

investments as at RMH’s reporting date are used 

in equity accounting.

 SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In RMH’s separate financial statements the investments 

in the associates are carried at cost.

d. Related party transactions
Taking into account the definition of related parties in IAS 24: 

Related party disclosure, the related parties of RMH have 

been identified as follows:

 PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ 

report. The principal shareholders are Financial Securities 

Limited (Remgro), Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary 

Limited and LL Dippenaar.

 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Only RMH’s directors are key management personnel. 

Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding 

in the company appears in the directors’ report.

 ASSOCIATES
Details of the investments in associates are disclosed in note 4.

 SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 5.

e.  Revenue and 
expenditure recognition
Revenue consists of interest income and dividends received.

Interest is recognised on an effective interest rate method 

(taking into account the principal outstanding, the effective 

rate and the period).

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment 

is established.

f. Income taxes
The tax expense includes both current and deferred tax. 

Income taxes include South African and foreign jurisdiction 

corporate taxation payable, as well as capital gains tax.

The current income tax expense is calculated by adjusting 

the net profit for the year for items which are non-taxable 

or disallowed. It is calculated using taxation rates that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date, 

in each particular jurisdiction within which the group operates.

g. Deferred tax 
 RECOGNITION

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising 

between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts in the financial statements.

These temporary differences typically include revaluation 

of certain financial assets and liabilities, including 

derivative contracts.

 MEASUREMENT
Deferred tax is measured using the liability method under 

IAS 12 and applying tax rates and laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date 

and are expected to apply when the related deferred 

income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 

liability is settled. Deferred tax on temporary differences 

is measured based on the tax base of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
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h. Recognition of contingent liabilities
 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The group discloses a contingent liability where:

 • It has a possible obligation arising from past events, 

the existence of which will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the group; or

 • It is not probable that an outflow of resources 

will be required to settle an obligation; or

 • The amount of the obligation cannot be measured 

with sufficient reliability.

i. Financial instruments
 GENERAL

Financial instruments disclosed in the financial statements 

include cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, 

loans and receivables, trade and other payables and 

borrowings. Financial instruments are initially recognised 

at fair value, including transaction costs, when the group 

becomes party to the contractual terms of the instruments. 

The transaction costs relating to the acquisition of financial 

instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are 

expensed. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments 

are measured as follows:

CATEGORY MEASUREMENT

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND 

BORROWINGS

Loans and receivables and borrowings are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed 

or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These instruments 

are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR 

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

 • Derivatives

 • Investment securities: 

equity instruments

 • Investment securities: 

debt instruments

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these 

financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Investment securities were designated to reduce measurement inconsistency (or accounting 

mismatch) that would arise as a result of measuring assets and liabilities and the gains and 

losses on them on a different basis.

For equity instruments, the net asset value of the underlying entity is used as the basis of 

calculation. The net asset value is then adjusted for non-tangible liabilities such as deferred 

tax and future development profit not included in the net asset value. The adjusted net 

asset value is then used as the fair value.

For debt instruments, the accrued value at current market rates is used.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENTS

 • Investment securities

Unrealised gains and losses from changes in the fair values of the available-for-sale financial 

instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income in the year during which it arises. 

When these financial instruments are derecognised or impaired, the accumulated fair value 

adjustments are realised and included in income. To the extent that foreign exchange gains 

or losses relate to available-for-sale financial instruments, it is recognised in other 

comprehensive income as part of the fair value movement.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES Financial liabilities (or portions thereof) are derecognised when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged or cancelled or has expired. On derecognition, the difference 

between the carrying amount of the financial liability, including related unamortised costs, 

and the amount paid for it, is included in profit or loss.

The group initially recognises financial liabilities at the fair values of the considerations 

received. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable preference shares, are included 

in financial liabilities.
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CATEGORY MEASUREMENT

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE 

CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as financial liabilities at the time the 

guarantees are issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently 

at the higher of:

 • The amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under  

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and

 • The amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 

recognised in accordance with the principles of IAS 18 Revenue.

The fair values of financial guarantees are determined based on the present value of 

the difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required under the debt 

instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the 

estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates are provided 

for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised 

as part of the cost of the investment.

j. Derivative financial instruments
The group initially recognises derivative financial instruments 

in the statement of financial position at fair value. Derivatives 

are subsequently remeasured at their fair values, with 

all movements in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

k. Leases
Leases of assets where the lessor substantially retains 

all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as 

operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 

are accounted for in the income statement on a straight-line 

basis over the period of the lease.

l. Impairment of assets
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised for the amount by which an asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of 

disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 

impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 

there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are 

largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets 

or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial 

assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 

are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment 

at the end of each reporting period.

m. Share capital
 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatory 

redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities.

 SHARE ISSUE COSTS
Instruments issued by the group are classified as equity 

when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. 

Incremental costs, directly related to the issue of new shares 

or options are shown as a deduction from equity, net 

of any related tax benefit.

 DIVIDENDS PAID
Dividends paid on ordinary shares are recognised against 

equity in the period in which they are paid. Dividends 

declared after the reporting date are not recognised 

but disclosed as an event subsequent to reporting date.

 TREASURY SHARES
Where the company or other entities within the group 

purchase the company’s equity share capital, unrealised 

gains and losses on transactions are eliminated to the extent 

of the group’s interest in the entity. These shares are treated 

as a deduction from the issued number of shares and taken 

into account in the calculation of the weighted average 

number of shares.
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n. Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the group that 

engages in business activities from which the group may 

earn revenues and incur expenses. An operating segment is 

also a component of the group whose operating results are 

regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker 

in allocating resources, assessing its performance and for 

which discrete financial information is available.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified 

as the chief executive of the group. The group’s identification 

and measurement of operating segments is consistent with 

the internal reporting provided to the chief executive. The 

operating segments have been identified and classified 

in a manner that reflects the risks and rewards related 

to the segments’ specific products and services offered 

in their specific markets.

o. Cash and cash equivalents
In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 

equivalents comprise:

 • Coins and bank notes; and

 • Money at call and short notice.

All balances included in cash and cash equivalents have 

a maturity date of less than three months from the date 

of acquisition.

p.  Standards, interpretations and 
amendments not yet effective
The following new and revised standards and interpretations 

are applicable to the business of the group and may have 

an impact on future financial statements. The group will 

comply with these standards and interpretations from the 

stated effective date. The initial assessment completed 

suggests that the new standards and interpretations will have 

no impact. The company and associates of the group are, 

however, still in the process of completing their assessments.

STANDARD IMPACT ASSESSMENT EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

IFRS 9 incorporates amendments to the classification and measurement 

guidance as well as accounting requirements for impairment of financial 

assets measured at amortised cost and the general hedge accounting 

model. The significant amendments are:

 • The classification and measurement of financial assets under IFRS 9 is 

based on both the business model and the rationale for holding the 

instruments as well as the contractual characteristics of the instruments;

 • Impairments in terms of IFRS 9 will be determined based on an expected 

loss model that considers the significant changes to the asset’s credit risk 

and the expected loss that will arise in the event of default;

 • the classification and measurement of financial liabilities is effectively the 

same as under IAS 39, i.e. IFRS 9 allows financial liabilities not held for 

trading to be measured at either amortised cost or fair value. If, however, 

fair value is elected then changes in the fair value as a result of changes in 

own credit risk should be recognised in other comprehensive income; and

 • the general hedge accounting requirements under IFRS 9 are closely 

aligned with how entities undertake risk management activities when 

hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures. Hedge effectiveness will 

now be proved based on management’s risk management objectives 

rather than the 80% – 125% band that was previously stipulated. IFRS 9 also 

allows for rebalancing of the hedge and the deferral of costs of hedging. 

IFRS 9 does not include requirements that address the accounting 

treatment of macro hedges.

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2018
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STANDARD IMPACT ASSESSMENT EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 9 IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of 

financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge 

accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets.

RMH has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities and is expecting the 

following impact from the adoption of the new standard on 1 July 2018:

 • Equity securities currently classified as available-for-sale will going forward 

be classified as fair value through profit and loss; and

 • Debt securities currently carried at amortised cost will be continued 

to be carried at amortised cost.

The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment 

provisions based on expected credit losses (ECL) rather than only incurred 

credit losses as is the case under IAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified 

at amortised cost. This will not have an impact on RMH's direct instruments 

but will have a significant impact on RMH's associate, FirstRand. The current 

indication received from FirstRand is that the impact will be between 

47 bps to 57 bps on its Common Equity Tier 1 capital.

The implementation of IFRS 9 will not have a significant impact 

on RMH Property associates.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and 

changes in presentation. These are expected to change the nature and 

extent of the group’s disclosures about its financial instruments, particularly 

in the year of the adoption of the new standard.

The new standard must be applied for financial years commencing on 

or after 1 January 2018. The group will apply the new rules retrospectively 

from 1 July 2017, with the practical expedients permitted under the standard. 

Comparatives for 2018 will not be restated and an adjustment will be made 

as an opening adjustment on 1 July 2018. 

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

IFRS 15 provides a single, principle-based model to be applied to all 

contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will 

recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 

expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The new 

standard also provides guidance for transactions that were not previously 

comprehensively addressed and improves guidance for multiple element 

arrangements. The standard also introduces enhanced disclosures 

regarding revenue.

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 LEASES

IFRS 16 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of leases, with the objective of ensuring 

that lessees and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully 

represents those transactions.

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2019

Early adoption is permitted 

only if IFRS 15 is adopted at 

the same time. 
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STANDARD IMPACT ASSESSMENT EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 17 INSURANCE CONTRACTS

IFRS 17 is the new standard that deals with the accounting for insurance 

contracts and will replace IFRS 4. IFRS 4 currently contains no requirements to 

account for insurance contracts in a specific way. The accounting treatment 

differs between different jurisdictions, which makes it very difficult to compare 

one insurance company to another. IFRS 17 contains specific requirements 

and aims to provide more transparency and comparability between 

insurance companies and other industries. IFRS 17 provides a prescriptive 

approach to determining policyholder liabilities as well as the release of profit 

in these contracts to the income statement.

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2021

Interpretation 23 UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX TREATMENTS

The interpretation explains how to recognise and measure deferred 

and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty 

over a tax treatment.

While there are no new disclosure requirements, entities are reminded of the 

general requirement to provide information about judgments and estimates 

made in preparing the financial statements.

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IFRS 9 PREPAYMENT FEATURES WITH NEGATIVE COMPENSATION

The narrow-scope amendments made to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

enable entities to measure certain prepayable financial assets with negative 

compensation at amortised cost. These assets, which include some loan 

and debt securities, would otherwise have to be measured at fair value 

through profit or loss. 

To qualify for amortised cost measurement, the negative compensation 

must be ‘reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract’ 

and the asset must be held within a ‘held to collect’ business model. 

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IAS 28 LONG-TERM INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The amendments clarify the accounting for long-term interests in an 

associate or joint venture, which in substance form part of the net investment 

in the associate or joint venture, but to which equity accounting 

is not applied.

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2019 
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STANDARD IMPACT ASSESSMENT EFFECTIVE DATE

Annual Improvements to 
IFRS Standards 2015-2017 
Cycle 

The following improvements were finalised in December 2017: 

 • IFRS 3 – clarified that obtaining control of a business that is a joint 

operation is a business combination achieved in stages; 

 • IFRS 11 – clarified that the party obtaining joint control of a business 

that is a joint operation should not remeasure its previously held interest 

in the joint operation; 

 • IAS 12 – clarified that the income tax consequences of dividends on 

financial instruments classified as equity should be recognised according 

to where the past transactions or events that generated distributable 

profits were recognised; and 

 • IAS 23 – clarified that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after 

the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale, it becomes 

part of general borrowings. 

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IAS 19 PLAN AMENDMENT, CURTAILMENT OR SETTLEMENT

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting for defined benefit plan 

amendments, curtailments and settlements. 

Annual periods commencing 

on or after 1 January 2019 

Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28

SALE OR CONTRIBUTION OF ASSETS BETWEEN AN INVESTOR AND ITS ASSOCIATE 

OR JOINT VENTURE

The amendment clarifies the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets 

from an investor to its associate or joint venture. 

Unknown
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R million

As at 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

1. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand 43 39 38 33 

Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts and call deposits. 

2. Loans and receivables 
Loans to associate company1 56 48 – – 

Loans2 – 64 – – 

Gross amount 61 64 – – 

Amount impaired (61) – – – 

Accounts receivable3 1 2 1 2 

Loans and receivables 57 114 1 2 

1. The loans carry interest at the FNB prime lending rate and has no fixed repayment terms. 
2.   Loan provided earned interest at the FNB prime lending rate and is repayable at the election of RMH. The loan was fully impaired at year-end after 

management considered the recoverability of the amount. 
3. None of the accounts receivable are past due or impaired. 

  From 1 July 2018, receivables will be subject to the expected credit loss model in terms of IFRS 9. Management has done an 

assessment of balances as at 30 June 2018 and no material additional adjustment will be required to opening retained income 

as a result of the transition to IFRS 9.

R million

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

3. Financial instruments 
3.1 INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Listed

Equity instruments held for trading 202 211 202 211 

Unlisted

Equity instruments classified as available-for-sale 151 123 – – 

Unlisted

Corporate debt securities 170 – – – 

Investment securities 523 334 202 211 

Analysis of investment securities 

– Equities 353 334 202 211 

– Debt securities 170 – – – 

Total investment securities 523 334 202 211 

  From 1 July 2018, debt securities carried at amortised cost will be subject to the expected credit loss model in terms of IFRS 9. 

Management has done an assessment of balances as at 30 June 2018 and no material adjustment will be required to opening 

retained income as a result of the transition to IFRS 9.
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3. Financial instruments continued

3.2. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING 
 Use of derivatives
  The notional amounts of the derivative instruments do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current 

fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not represent the group’s exposure to credit or market risk. Derivative instruments 

become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities), based on changes in market prices and counterparty credit ratings. The 

aggregate notional amount of derivative financial instruments, the extent to which the instruments are favourable or unfavourable 

and the aggregate fair value can fluctuate over time.

R million

As at 30 June

GROUP

2018 2017

Over the counter Over the counter

Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative assets

Held for trading

Equity derivatives

– Swaps 302 36 92 8 

– Options 31 19 – – 

HELD FOR TRADING 333 55 92 8 

R million

COMPANY

2018 2017

Over the counter Over the counter

Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative assets

Held for trading

Equity derivatives

– Swaps 302 36 92 8 

HELD FOR TRADING 302 36 92 8 

R million

GROUP AND COMPANY

2018 2017

Over the counter Over the counter

Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative liabilities

Held for trading

Equity derivatives

– Swaps – – 163 6 

HELD FOR TRADING – – 163 6 

Refer to note 21, which provides additional detail on the valuation of derivatives
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R million

As at 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

4. Investment in associates
Shares at cost 10 785 10 244 – – 

Share of post-acquisition reserves 37 805 32 886 – – 

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE 48 590 43 130 – – 

For the year ended 30 June

Analysis of movement in the carrying value of associate 

Opening carrying value 43 130 39 316 – 11 732 

Cost of new associates bought and additional investments made 397 699 – – 

Shareholder's loan to associate 144 48 – – 

Share of after-tax profits of associate 9 064 8 375 – – 

Impairments (247) – – – 

Dividends received (5 082) (4 528) – – 

Share of associate's other reserves 1 095 (731) – – 

Foreign currency translation 94 – – – 

Change in effective shareholding (5) (1) – – 

Value of shares issued in wholly-owned subsidiary in exchange 

for investment in associate* – – – (11 732) 

Shareholders' loan transferred to trade accounts and receivable – (48) – –

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE 48 590 43 130 – – 

*  During 2017, the 34.1% interest in FirstRand was swapped for shares in RMH Assets Holding Company Proprietary Limited as part of the group restructure.

R million

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Carrying values of associates 

Listed 

FirstRand Limited 46 557 42 427 – – 

Unlisted 

Atterbury Property Holdings Proprietary Limited 620 480 – – 

Atterbury Europe Holding BV 1 408 – – – 

Genesis Properties Three Proprietary Limited 5 – – – 

Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited – 223 – – 

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE 48 590 43 130 – – 

Market value at closing price on 30 June 

Listed 

FirstRand Limited 122 058 90 077 – – 
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4. Investment in associates continued

The group's interests in its associates are as follows:

Number of shares Percentage held

2018 2017 2018 2017

Name of associates

Listed 

FirstRand Limited 1 910 433 050 1 910 433 050 

 – % of ownership 34.06 34.06 

 – % of voting rights 34.07 34.07 

Unlisted 

Atterbury Property Holdings Proprietary Limited 28 448 276 28 448 276 

 – % of ownership 27.50 27.50 

 – % of voting rights 27.50 27.50 

Atterbury Europe Holding BV 31 932 –

 – % of ownership 43.87 –

 – % of voting rights 43.87 –

Genesis Properties Three Proprietary Limited 80 80 

 – % of ownership 40.00 40.00 

 – % of voting rights 40.00 40.00 

Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited 54 413 8 972 

 – % of ownership 49.85 34.06 

 – % of voting rights 49.85 34.06 

 DETAIL OF ASSOCIATES
 Listed

FirstRand Limited

Financial year-end 30 June 

Year used for equity accounting 30 June 

Country of incorporation Republic of South Africa 

R million 2018 2017

Statement of financial position

Assets

Current assets 593 144 518 304 

Non-current assets 939 145 699 403 

TOTAL ASSETS 1 532 289 1 217 707 

Current liabilities 1 102 841 918 219 

Non-current liabilities 298 650 182 304 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 401 491 1 100 523 

NET ASSET VALUE 130 798 117 184 

RMH's share of net asset value 41 229 37 099 

Notional goodwill 5 328 5 328 

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE 46 557 42 427 

Statement of comprehensive income

Net profit for the year 28 144 26 139 

Other comprehensive income 676 (2 053) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 28 820 24 086 
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4. Investment in associates continued

 DETAIL OF ASSOCIATES continued
 Unlisted 

RMH Property

Financial year-end Various 

Year used for equity accounting Various 

Country of incorporation Various 

Date acquired Various 

R million 2018 2017

Statement of financial position

Assets

Current assets 734 637 

Non-current assets 11 759 5 028 

TOTAL ASSETS 12 493 5 665 

Current liabilities 4 168 411 

Non-current liabilities 3 374 3 420 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7 542 3 831 

NET ASSET VALUE 4 951 1 834 

RMH Property's share of net asset value 1 896 583 

Notional goodwill 137 120 

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE 2 033 703 

Statement of comprehensive income

Net profit for the year 138 71 

Other comprehensive income 116 (15) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 254 56 

GUARANTEES ISSUED IN RESPECT OF FUNDING EXCLUDED FROM CARRYING VALUE 1 352 684 

 Impairment of associate
  Propertuity has materially underperformed against expectations due to various factors including: overly optimistic asset selection 

and unrealistic valuation expectations, limited management capacity, excessive gearing and operational challenges. RMH, with 

the assistance of expert advisors, performed extensive valuation and diligence work on the Propertuity investment proposition 

and, in hindsight, underestimated the operational complexity of expanding the business.

  The Propertuity shareholders have taken significant measures to reduce losses herein, including changes to strategy and management, 

a rationalisation of the portfolio and the introduction of seasoned property developers and managers. This asset is not expected to 

materially impact RMH Property’s future earnings and has been impaired with adequate provisions recognised for related contingencies.

  The fair value was determined by adjusting the net asset value received from Propertuity with management’s valuation of the 

underlying assets. Contingencies were added and the new net asset value was used to determine the recoverable amount. 
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As at 30 June

R million

COMPANY

2018 2017

5. Investment in subsidiaries
Unlisted shares at cost 13 024 12 652 

Percentage interest held in unlisted shares (%)

RMH Treasury Company Limited 100 100 

RMH Asset Holding Company Proprietary Limited 100 100 

 Consistent with the group’s strategy, RMH has become more active and considers select diversification and investment opportunities. 

This change in strategy from being a passive investment holding company required an evaluation of the existing corporate structure 

and, more specifically, the investment processes and the capital and funding structures:

 • The operational structure of RMH was benchmarked to those of other investment holding companies with similar strategies. 

The aim was to ensure that the structure was optimal and that unnecessary delays in the investment process were reduced 

or eliminated; and

 • RMH could approach the capital markets to raise funds for its various investment activities. An optimal corporate structure 

would enable RMH to obtain the best funding rates, comply with market precedent and maintain a high standard 

of corporate governance.

After careful deliberation and bearing the objectives (set out above) in mind, it was decided in the prior financial year that 

the structure could be improved and a decision was made to internally restructure the RMH group. 

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the RMH group was restructured by means of:

 • The establishment of a wholly-owned treasury company, namely RMH Treasury Company Limited, for purposes of raising funds 

for investment activities; and 

 • The establishment of a wholly-owned investment holding company, namely RMH Asset Holding Company Proprietary Limited, 

for purposes of housing RMH’s equity investments, including RMH’s current direct interest of 34.1 percent in FirstRand’s issued share 

capital and the existing and planned property investments, in ring-fenced holding companies.

The new group structure was achieved by means of implementation of various asset-for-share transactions, in terms of section 42 

of the Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962. The process was completed in the comparative period on 12 June 2017. 

The restructure did not result in any accounting profit and had no economic substance. It also had no cash flow impact. During the 

current year, RMH Asset Holding Company Proprietary Limited issued a further 28 512 996 shares for a consideration of R372 million 

to RMH Company.
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R million

GROUP AND COMPANY

Number of
shares 

(million) 
Share 

capital 
Share

 premium Total 

6. Share capital and premium
As at 30 June 2017 1 411,7 14 8 811 8 825 

As at 30 June 2018 1 411,7 14 8 811 8 825 

  The total authorised number of shares is 2 000 000 000 (2017: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per share (2017: one cent). 

During the current year, no shares were issued (2017: nil). 5 % of the unissued share capital is under the control of the board of directors 

until the forthcoming annual general meeting. 

  The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2017: 100 000 000), with a par value of one 

cent per share (2017: one cent). During the year, no preference shares were issued. As these preference shares are redeemable, they 

are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (see note 9). All preference shares are unlisted.

R million

As at 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

7. Reserves
Retained earnings 2 639 2 878 1 671 1 539 

Other reserves

Equity accounted reserves 34 425 29 359 – – 

Available -for-sale reserve 7 (14) – – 

Foreign currency translation reserve 94 – – – 

Capital surpluses on disposal and restructuring of strategic investments 333 333 333 333 

Other reserves 34 859 29 678 333 333 

RESERVES 37 498 32 556 2 004 1 872 

8. Trade and other payables
Trade payables and accrued expenses 179 15 22 13 

Accrued redeemable preference share dividends (see note 9) 31 18 15 15 

Unclaimed dividends 22 19 22 19 

Short-term portion of long-term liabilities – 29 – 29 

Intergroup debt – – 1 198 923 

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 232 81 1 257 999 

Detail of intergroup debt

Owing by subsidiary company

Loan bearing interest at prime rate with no fixed repayment term, 

included in trade and other payables – – (54) (35) 

Owing to subsidiary company

Interest free loan with no fixed repayment term, included in trade 

and other payables – – 1 252 958 

INTERGROUP DEBT – – 1 198 923 
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R million

As at 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

9. Financial liabilities
Variable rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares 1 552 1 180 1 180 1 180 
Fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares 957 957 – – 
Interest-bearing loans 22 17 22 17 
Accrued redeemable preference dividend 31 18 15 15 
Financial guarantee contract liability 161 – – – 
Short-term portion of accrued preference dividend transferred to trade 

and other payables (note 8) (31) (18) (15) (15) 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 2 692 2 154 1 202 1 197 

R million

GROUP AND COMPANY

2018 2017

Shares in issue at the beginning of the year
Variable rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares

Number of shares 11 800 11 800 
Dividend rate 71.67% of Prime 71.67% of Prime 
Redemption date 10 June 2020 10 June 2020 
Issue price R100 000 per share R100 000 per share 
Listing status Unlisted Unlisted 

R million

GROUP

2018 2017

Fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares

Number of shares 667 829 667 829 
Dividend rate 7.08% 7.08%
Redemption date 10 June 2020 10 June 2020 
Issue price R1 000 per share R1 000 per share 
Number of shares 289 800 289 800 
Dividend rate 7.34% 7.34%
Redemption date 15 June 2020 15 June 2020 
Issue price R1 000 per share R1 000 per share 
Listing status Unlisted Unlisted 

R million

GROUP

2018 2017

Shares issued during the year

Number of shares 371 825 – 
Dividend rate 70% of Prime – 
Redemption date 24 July 2021 – 
Issue price R1 000 per share – 
Listing status Unlisted – 

R million

GROUP AND COMPANY

2018 2017

Interest-bearing loans

Funding raised by the company 22 17 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 22 17 

  The company financed its obligation by means of a loan obtained from FirstRand Bank Limited. The loan is unsecured and bears 

interest at a rate linked to prime.

37

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued



R million

As at 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

10. Deferred income tax
Movement on the deferred income tax account is shown below:

Balance at the beginning of the year 4 – – – 

Deferred income tax charged on items directly taken 

to other comprehensive income (4) 4 – – 

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET – 4 – – 

Deferred income tax liabilities arise from:

Fair value investment securities – 4 – – 

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET – 4 – – 

Movement on the deferred income tax account is shown below:

Balance at the beginning of the year 11 9 11 9 

Deferred income tax charged current year 12 – 6 2 

Deferred income tax charged on items directly taken 

to other comprehensive income 2 2 – – 

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITY 25 11 17 11 

Deferred income tax liabilities arise from:

Fair value investment securities 25 11 17 11 

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITY 25 11 17 11 

R million

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

11. Revenue
Dividend income from associate company – – – 4 528 

Dividend income subsidiary – – 5 054 – 

Dividend income – fair value assets 6 8 6 8 

Interest received 20 8 3 2 

Interest received from RMH Treasury Company Limited – – 5 2 

REVENUE 26 16 5 068 4 540 

12. Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets 
and liabilities
Fair value gain on financial assets and liabilities 16 6 25 6 

Impairment of financial assets (61) – – – 

NET FAIR VALUE (LOSS)/GAIN (45) 6 25 6 
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For the year ended 30 June

R million

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

13. Administrative expenses
Expenses by nature

– Professional fees and regulatory compliance cost (6) (6) (3) (5) 

– Management fee* (13) (20) (13) (20) 

– Operating lease rentals (1) (1) (1) (1) 

– Audit fees (2) (1) (2) (1) 

– Staff costs (6) – – – 

– Directors' fees (3) (2) (3) (2) 

– Other expenses (25) (10) (24) (10) 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (56) (40) (46) (39) 

Audit fees

Statutory audit – current year (2) (1) (2) (1) 

Other services – – – – 

AUDIT FEES (2) (1) (2) (1) 

*  Management fees are paid to RMI for services rendered. These services include 
a recovery of personnel cost and shared expenses.

14. Finance costs
Interest expense

– Interest paid on borrowings (5) (64) – (64) 

– Dividends paid on redeemable preference shares (168) (88) (88) (84) 

FINANCE COSTS (173) (152) (88) (148) 

15. Taxation
SA income tax

Current tax

– Current year (9) (3) (9) (3) 

Deferred tax

– Current year (13) (2) (6) (2) 

TAXATION (22) (5) (15) (5) 

The tax on accounting profits differs from the actual tax paid:

Profit before tax 8 582 7 574 4 975 4 362 

% % % %

Standard income tax rate of South Africa 28.00 28.00 28.00 28.00 

Dividend income – – (28.44) (29.07) 

Income from associates (28.75) (28.57) – – 

Expenses not subject to tax 1.80 0.94 0.62 1.14 

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 1.05 0.37 0.18 0.07 
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GROUP

R million cents per share

2018 2017 2018 2017

16. Earnings, headline earnings and dividend 
per share
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders

– Basic 8 560 8 202 606.5 581.2 

– Diluted 8 560 8 202 606.5 581.2 

Headline earnings

– Basic 8 851 7 927 627.2 561.7 

– Diluted 8 851 7 927 627.2 561.7 

Ordinary dividend declared during the year 4 955 4 616 351.0 327.0 

– Interim 2 372 2 160 168.0 153.0 

– Final* 2 583 2 456 183.0 174.0 

Ordinary dividends paid during the year 4 828 4 320 342.0 296.0 

*  A final gross dividend for the year ended 30 June 2018 of 183.0 cents (2017: 174.0 cents) per ordinary share, declared on 7 September 2018, payable 
on 8 October 2018.

GROUP

2018 2017

16.1 WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES
Number of shares issued as at 30 June 1 411 703 218 1 411 703 218 

Number of treasury shares (353 753) (420 753) 

NUMBER OF SHARES 1 411 349 465 1 411 282 465 

Weighted number of shares issued as at 30 June 1 411 703 218 1 411 703 218 

Weighted number of treasury shares (423 666) (395 684)

WEIGHTED NUMBER OF SHARES 1 411 279 552 1 411 307 534 

Weighted number of shares issued as at 30 June 1 411 279 552 1 411 307 534 

Diluted weighted number of treasury shares – –

DILUTED WEIGHTED NUMBER OF SHARES 1 411 279 552 1 411 307 534 
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R million

GROUP

2018 2017

Gross Net Gross Net

16. Earnings, headline earnings and dividend 
per share continued

16.2 HEADLINE EARNINGS RECONCILIATION
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders 8 560 8 202 

Adjusted for: 291 (275) 

Adjustments made by associates:

– Gain on disposal of investment securities and other investments  

 of capital nature (10) (8) (1) (1) 

– Loss due to the fair value adjustment of a non-current asset held for sale – – 32 32 

– Gain on disposal of available-for-sale assets 31 23 (18) (11) 

– Transfer to foreign currency translation reserve 37 29 – 

– Loss on disposal of investments in non-private equity associates – – 2 2 

– Impairment of investments in non-private equity associates – – 1 1 

– Gain on disposal of investments in subsidiaries (33) (26) (619) (464) 

– Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and equipment (21) (12) 5 3 

– Fair value movement on investment properties (10) (7) – – 

– Impairment of goodwill 4 2 41 41 

– Impairment of assets in terms of IAS 36 14 7 126 121 

– Gain from a bargain purchase (14) (14) – – 

– Other (10) (6) – – 

RMH's own adjustments:

– Loss on deemed sale of associate due to change in effective shareholding (5) (5) 1 1 

– Impairment of assets in terms of IAS 36 (refer note 2) 61 61 – – 

– Impairment of associate (refer note 4) 247 247 – – 

HEADLINE EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS 8 851 7 927 

17.  Segment reporting
 GROUP’S CHIEF OPERATING DECISION-MAKER

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the chief executive. Information provided is aligned with the internal 

reporting provided to the chief executive.

 IDENTIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT OF OPERATING SEGMENTS
Information provided is aligned with the internal reporting provided to the chief executive. Operating segments whose total revenue, 

absolute profit or loss for the year or total assets are 10% or more of all the segments’ revenue, profit or loss or total assets, are reported 

separately. The group currently considers the results of FirstRand (the group’s most significant investment), RMH Property and the 

remaining instruments as the key operating segments and has accordingly proportioned segmental information on these as 

explained below.
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17.  Segment reporting continued
 FIRSTRAND

FirstRand is a diverse financial services group. It consists of a portfolio of leading financial services franchises. These are FNB 

(the retail and commercial bank), RMB (the corporate and investment bank), WesBank (the instalment finance business) 

and Aldermore, the recently acquired UK bank.

The franchises of FirstRand can be described as follows:

FRANCHISE PRODUCTS AND SERVICES FOOTPRINT

FNB FNB offers a diverse set of financial products and 

services to market segments including consumer, 

small business, agricultural, medium corporate, 

parastatals and government entities. FNB’s 

products cover the entire spectrum of financial 

services – transactional, lending, insurance, 

investment and savings – and include mortgage 

loans, credit and debit cards, personal loans, 

funeral policies, and savings and investment 

products. Services include transactional and 

deposit-taking, card acquiring, credit facilities and 

FNB distribution channels (branch network, ATMs, 

call centres, cellphone and online).

FNB operates in South Africa, Namibia, Botswana, 

Lesotho, Swaziland, Zambia, Mozambique, Tanzania 

and Ghana.

RMB RMB offers advisory, financing, trading, corporate 

banking and principal investing solutions. RMB's 

business units include global markets, investment 

banking, private equity and corporate banking.

RMB has offices in South Africa, Namibia, Botswana 

and Nigeria, and manages FirstRand Bank’s 

representative offices in Kenya and Angola. It also 

operates in the UK, India, China and the Middle 

East (through FirstRand Bank branches and 

representative offices), and in Zambia, Tanzania, 

Mozambique, Swaziland, Lesotho and Ghana 

through FNB’s subsidiaries. 

WesBank WesBank offers asset-based finance in the retail, 

commercial and corporate segments, operating 

primarily through alliances and joint ventures with 

leading motor manufacturers, suppliers and dealer 

groups, where it has built up a strong point-of-sale 

presence. WesBank also provides personal loans 

through its subsidiary, Direct Axis. Through the 

MotoVantage brand, WesBank provides insurance 

and related value-added products into 

the motor sector.

WesBank offers asset-based finance and personal 

loans in South Africa and Africa. Through MotoNovo 

Finance, it operates in the asset-based motor 

finance sector in the UK.

Aldermore Aldermore offers a diverse set of products and 

services to market segments including small and 

medium enterprises (SMEs), commercial property 

investors, individuals and companies. Aldermore 

offers asset finance, invoice finance, SME 

commercial mortgages, buy-to-let mortgages and 

residential mortgages. 

Aldermore operates in the UK.
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17.  Segment reporting continued
 FIRSTRAND continued

FRANCHISE PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

FCC and other Group-wide functions include group treasury (capital, liquidity and financial resource management), 

group finance, group tax, enterprise risk management, regulatory risk management and group internal 

audit. FCC has a custodianship mandate which includes managing relationships on behalf of the group 

with key external stakeholders (e.g. shareholders, debt holders, regulators) and the ownership of key group 

strategic frameworks (e.g. performance measurement, risk/reward). Its objective is to ensure the group 

delivers on its commitments to stakeholders. The reportable segment includes all management 

accounting and consolidated entries.

Ashburton Investments offers focused traditional and alternative investment solutions to individual and 

institutional investors and combines established active fund management expertise with alternative 

investment solutions from product providers across the FirstRand group.

Ashburton Investments’ results are included in this reportable segment as these are not material 

on a segmental basis.

It also includes all consolidation and IFRS adjustments made by FirstRand.

Basis of preparation of segment information

RMH believes that normalised earnings more accurately reflect operational performance. Headline earnings are adjusted to take 

into account the following non-operational and accounting anomalies for internal management reporting purposes:

1.   RMH's portion of normalised adjustments made by its 

associate FirstRand Limited which have a financial impact:

 • FirstRand shares held for client trading activities;

 • IAS 19: Remeasurement of plan asset;

 • the consolidation of private equity subsidiaries which is 

excluded from the Rule 1 exemption of Circular 2/2015, 

Headline Earnings per Share; and

 • Cash-settled share-based payments and the economic 

hedge.

2.   RMH shares held for client trading activities by FirstRand in terms of IAS 28 Investments in Associates, upstream and downstream 

profits are eliminated when equity accounting is applied, and, in terms of IAS 32, profits or losses cannot be recognised 

on an entity’s own equity instruments. For the income statement, the RMH’s portion of the fair value change in RMH shares 

by FirstRand is, therefore, deducted from equity accounted earnings and the investment recognised using the equity 

accounted method.

3.   Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMH shareholding in FirstRand based on actual number of shares 

issued by FirstRand.

 MAJOR CUSTOMERS
In terms of IFRS 8, a customer is regarded as a major customer if the revenue from transactions with this customer exceeds 10% or more 

of the entity’s revenue. The group has no major customer as defined and is therefore not reliant on the revenue from one or more 

major customers.

 RMH PROPERTY
RMH Property include the results of the recently established property business.
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17.  Segment reporting continued
 OTHER

Other includes the results of the RMH company, consolidation of RMH shares held by FirstRand and RMH consolidation entries.

R million

GROUP

FNB RMB WesBank Aldermore

FCC and

 other FirstRand 
RMH

 Property Other RMH

Year ended 30 June 2018

Revenue – – – – – – 18 8 26 

Share of after-tax profit of associates 5 068 2 496 1 235 94 150 9 043 (236) 5 8 812 

Fee income – – – – – – – 18 18 
Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial 

assets and liabilities – – – – – – (53) 8 (45) 

Net income 5 068 2 496 1 235 94 150 9 043 (271) 39 8 811 

Administration expenses – – – – – – (10) (46) (56) 

Income from operations 5 068 2 496 1 235 94 150 9 043 (281) (7) 8 755 

Finance costs – – – – – – (5) (168) (173) 

Profit before tax 5 068 2 496 1 235 94 150 9 043 (286) (175) 8 582 

Income tax expense – – – – – – (6) (16) (22) 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 5 068 2 496 1 235 94 150 9 043 (292) (191) 8 560 

Headline earnings 5 068 2 496 1 235 94 137 9 030 16 (195) 8 851 

Normalised earnings 5 067 2 495 1 235 94 104 8 995 16 (196) 8 815 

As at 30 June 2018

Assets – – – – – – 397 285 682 

Investment in associates – – – – – 46 557 2 033 – 48 590 

TOTAL ASSETS – – – – – 46 557 2 430 285 49 272

TOTAL LIABILITIES – – – – – – 363 2 586 2 949 

R million

GROUP

FNB RMB WesBank

FCC 

and other FirstRand 

RMH

Property Other RMH

Year ended 30 June 2017
Revenue – – – – – 6 10 16 
Share of after-tax profit of associates 4 361 2 356 1 361 293 8 371 4 (1) 8 374 
Investment income – – – – – 3 3 
Net fair value gain on financial assets 

and liabilities – – – – – – 6 6 

Net income 4 361 2 356 1 361 293 8 371 10 18 8 399 
Administration expenses – – – – – – (40) (40) 

Income from operations 4 361 2 356 1 361 293 8 371 10 (22) 8 359 
Finance costs – – – – – (2) (150) (152) 

Profit before tax 4 361 2 356 1 361 293 8 371 8 (172) 8 207 
Income tax expense – – – – – – (5) (5) 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4 361 2 356 1 361 293 8 371 8 (177) 8 202 

Headline earnings 4 361 2 356 1 361 17 8 095 8 (176) 7 927 
Normalised earnings 4 360 2 356 1 361 257 8 334 8 (176) 8 166 
As at 30 June 2017
Assets – – – – – 244 260 504 
Investment in associates – – – – 42 427 703 – 43 130 

TOTAL ASSETS – – – – 42 427 947 260 43 634 

TOTAL LIABILITIES – – – – – 2 253 2 253 
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17.  Segment reporting continued
 GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 

R million

South 
Africa

United
Kingdom Europe RMH 

Year ended 30 June 2018

Share of after-tax profit of associates 8 674 94 44 8 812 

Profit for the year 8 422 94 44 8 560 

As at 30 June 2018

Investment in associates 47 182 – 1 408 48 590 

In the prior year, RMH did not have multiple geographic segments as both FirstRand and RMH Property were viewed as South African 

entities with the majority of their underlying businesses also in South Africa.

R million

GROUP

2018 2017

Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders 8 560 8 202 

Headline earnings adjustments (refer note 16) 291 (275)

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders (Note 16) 8 851 7 927 

RMH's share of adjustments made by FirstRand:

– TRS and IFRS 2 liability remeasurement (18) (21)

– Treasury shares 6 (4)

– IAS 19 adjustment (37) (40)

– Private equity subsidiary realisations 16 307 

  Adjusted for:

  – Group treasury shares (3) (3)

NORMALISED EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS 8 815 8 166 

Normalised earnings per share

– Basic 624.4 578.5 

– Diluted 624.4 578.5 
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18.  Related parties
 PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. The principal shareholders are Financial Securities Limited (Remgro), 

Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, Public Investment Corporation and LL Dippenaar.

 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Only RMH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the company 

appears in the directors’ report.

 ASSOCIATE
Details of the investment in associate are disclosed in note 4.

R million

For the year ended 30 June

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited with:

Principal shareholders

Dividends paid 2 343 2 096 2 343 2 096 

Key management personnel

Salaries and other benefits 3 3 3 3 

Directors' fees 39 2 39 2 

Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited or its wholly-owned 

subsidiaries with FirstRand:

Income statement effect

Dividends received 5 081 4 528 – 4 528 

Interest received 3 6 2 4 

Preference shares dividends paid 146 87 88 84 

Finance costs 5 34 – 49 

Balance sheet effect

Cash and cash equivalents 43 39 38 33 

Preference share liabilities 2 220 1 847 1 180 1 180 

Trade and other payables 165 17 15 15 

Interest-bearing loans 22 17 22 17 

R million

GROUP

2018 2017

Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited wholly-owned subsidiaries with RMH Property associates:

Income statement effect

Interest received 5 2 

Balance sheet effect

Loans and receivables 56 48 

Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited's key management personnel with FirstRand

Loans in normal course of business (mortgages, other loans, instalment finance and credit cards) 1 10

Cheque and current accounts 8 64 

Savings accounts – – 

Term deposits 84 23 

Ashburton funds 244 1 014 

Financial consulting fees and commissions 5 3 
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19.  Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2018, RMH had issued guarantees in respect of debt funding raised in terms of the debt programme to the value 

of R2 833 million (2017: R1 603 million). 

Of this amount, R1 480 million relates to the holders of preference shares and notes issued by RMH Treasury Company Limited and the 

balance to funding facilities provided to RMH Property associates.

20.  Subsequent events
Events subsequent to the reporting date are dealt with in the directors’ report.

21.  Fair value measurements and analysis of assets and liabilities
This note provides information about how the fair values of instruments are determined and includes judgments and explanations 

on the uncertainty estimation involved.

 VALUATION METHODOLOGY APPLIED
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. Fair value is therefore a market-based measurement and, when 

measuring fair value, RMH uses the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability under current 

market conditions, including assumptions about risk. When determining fair value it is presumed that the entity is a going concern 

and the fair value is therefore not an amount that represents a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or a distressed sale. 

The fair value of non-traded derivatives is based on discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. The group 

recognises derivatives as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative .The best evidence of the 

fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or 

received), unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the 

same instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging), or based on a valuation technique with variables that include only data 

from observable markets. When such evidence exists, the group recognises profits or losses on day one. Where fair value is determined 

using valuation techniques with variables that include non-observable market data, the difference between the fair value and the 

transaction price (the day one profit or loss) is not recognised in the statement of financial position. These differences are, however, 

monitored for disclosure purposes. If observable market factors that market participants would consider in setting a price subsequently 

become available, the balance of the deferred day one profit or loss is released to profit or loss.

 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value measurements are determined on both a recurring and non-recurring basis.

 Recurring fair value measurements
Recurring fair value measurements are those for assets and liabilities that IFRS requires or permits to be recognised at fair value 

and are recognised in the statement of financial position at reporting date. This includes financial assets, financial liabilities and 

non-financial assets.

 Financial instruments
When determining the fair value of a financial instrument, RMH uses the most representative price. 

 Non-financial assets
When determining the fair value of a non-financial asset, a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 

the assets in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant who would use the asset in its highest and best 

use, is taken into account. This includes the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 

In determining the fair value of the group’s investment properties and commodities, the highest and best use of the assets is 

their current use. 

 Non-recurring fair value measurements
Non-recurring fair value measurements are those triggered by particular circumstances and include the classification of assets and 

liabilities as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale under IFRS 5, where fair value less costs to sell is the recoverable amount, 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations, where assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at acquisition date, and IAS 36 Impairments of 

Assets, where fair value less costs to sell is the recoverable amount. These fair value measurements are determined on a case-by-case 

basis as they occur within each reporting period. 
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21.  Fair value measurements and analysis of assets and liabilities continued
 OTHER FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Other fair value measurements include assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which fair value disclosures are required 

under another IFRS standard, e.g. financial instruments at amortised cost. The fair values of these items are determined by using 

observable quoted market prices where these are available, or in accordance with generally acceptable pricing models such 

as a discounted cash flow analysis.

 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND MEASUREMENTS
Valuations based on observable inputs include:

 • Level 1 – Fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments as measured on 

reporting date. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to reliable provide pricing 

information on an on-going basis.

 • Level 2 – Fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable market inputs. These valuation techniques 

maximise the use of observable market data where available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. 

Valuations based on unobservable inputs include:

 • Level 3 – Fair value is determined through valuation techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. 

The table below sets out the valuation techniques applied by RMH for fair value measurements of financial assets and liabilities 

categorised as Level 2 asset and liabilities in the fair value hierarchy.

Instrument
Fair value 

hierarchy level Valuation technique

Description of valuation 
technique and main 
assumptions Observable inputs

Derivative financial 

instruments – Equity 

derivative

Level 2 Quoted market closing 

price less market 

related interest rate 

time the number of 

units

The models calculate fair 

value based on input 

parameters such as share 

prices and interest rates

Market interest 

rates and prices

Financial assets and 

liabilities not measured at 

fair value but for which fair 

values are disclosed

Level 2 Discounted cash flow The future cash flows are 

discounted using a 

market-related interest 

rate and curves adjusted 

for credit inputs (which 

are not considered 

a significant input)

Market interest 

rates and curves
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21.  Fair value measurements and analysis of assets and liabilities continued

R million

GROUP

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 30 June 2018

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets

Investment securities: equity instruments 202 – 151 353 

Investment securities: debt instruments – – 170 170 

Derivative financial instruments – 36 – 36 

Investment in associate 122 058 – – 122 058 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 122 260 36 321 122 617 

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities – 2 531 161 2 692 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – 2 531 161 2 692 

2018 2017

Reconciliation of Level 3 assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 123 – 

Additions in the current year 156 141 

Fair value movement recognised in profit 14 – 

Fair value movement recognised in other comprehensive income 28 (18) 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 321 123 

R million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 30 June 2017

Financial assets

Investment securities: equity instruments 211 – 123 334 

Derivative financial instruments – 8 – 8 

Investment in associate 90 077 – – 90 077 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 90 288 8 123 90 419 

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities – 2 154 – 2 154 

Derivative financial instruments – 6 – 6 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – 2 160 – 2 160 
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21.  Fair value measurements and analysis of assets and liabilities continued

R million

COMPANY

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Recurring fair value measurements

As at 30 June 2018

Financial assets

Investment securities: equity instruments 202 – – 202 

Derivative financial instruments – 36 – 36 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 202 36 – 238 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities – 1 202 – 1 202 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – 1 202 – 1 202 

R million

COMPANY

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 30 June 2017

Financial assets

Investment securities: equity instruments 211 – – 211 

Derivative financial instruments – 8 – 8 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 211 8 – 219 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities – 1 184 – 1 184 

Derivative financial instruments – 6 – 6 

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – 1 190 – 1 190 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018 50



21.  Fair value measurements and analysis of assets and liabilities continued

Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumption of Level 3 instruments:

R million

GROUP

As at 30 June 2018

Assets

Description of valuation 

technique and main 

assumptions

Changes to significant 

unobservable data

Fair 
value

Using
 more

 positive
 assumptions

Using 
more

 negative 
assumptions

Equity instruments The net asset value 

of the underlying 

entity is used as basis of 

calculation. The net asset 

value is then adjusted for 

non-tangible liabilities such 

as deferred tax and future 

development profit 

not included in the 

net asset value

Reduced and increased 

underlying value by 10%

151 182 122

Debt instruments Accrued value at current 

market rates

Reduced and increased 

underlying value by 10%

170 165 164

R million

GROUP

As at 30 June 2017

Assets

Description of valuation 

technique and main 

assumptions

Changes to significant 

unobservable data Fair value

Using

 more

 positive

 assumptions

Using 

more

 negative

 assumptions

Equity instruments The net asset value of 

the underlying entity 

is used as basis of 

calculation. The net asset 

value is then adjusted 

for non-tangible liabilities 

such as deferred tax 

and future development 

profit not included in 

the net asset value

Reduced and increased 

underlying rate by 10%

123 135 111
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21.  Fair value measurements and analysis of assets and liabilities continued

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules 

for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets

RMH has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities and is expecting the following impact from the adoption of the new standard  

on 1 July 2018:

 • Equity securities currently classified as available-for-sale will going forward be classified as fair value through profit and loss;

 • Debt securities currently carried at amortised cost will be continued to be carried at amortised cost;

 • The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provisions based on expected credit losses (ECL) rather than only 

incurred credit losses as is the case under IAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified at amortised cost. This will not have an impact 

on RMH’s direct instruments but will have a significant impact on RMH’s associate, FirstRand. The current indication received 

from FirstRand is that the impact will be between 47bps to 57bps on its impairment provision; and

 • The implementation of IFRS 9 will not have a significant impact on RMH Property associates.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in presentation. These are expected to change the 

nature and extent of the group’s disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of the new standard.

Must be applied for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The group will apply the new rules retrospectively from 

1 July 2017, with the practical expedients permitted under the standard. Comparatives for 2018 will not be restated and adjustment 

will be made as an opening adjustment on 1 July 2018.
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22.  Management of financial risk
Various financial risks have an impact on the group’s results: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), 

credit risk and liquidity risk. The risk management framework is aimed at minimising the negative impact that the unpredictable 

financial markets can have on the group. RMH has implemented a governance structure to assist with the management of risk. 

The various sub-committees and their responsibilities as well as reports from the various committees are included in the annual 

integrated report available on RMH’s website, www.rmh.co.za. This section addresses the quantitative impact of market risk, credit risk 

and liquidity risk on the results of the group. 

Market risk – the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

 CURRENCY RISK
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency may 

fluctuate due to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the currency in which such 

instrument is denominated. 

During the year, the group invested in foreign-denominated unlisted equity and debt securities. The impact of the movement 

in the Rand/Euro exchange rate on the results of the group is demonstrated below:

R million

GROUP

10%
increase

2018

10%
decrease

2018

10%

increase

2017

10%

decrease

2017

Investment in associates 47 (47) – – 

Investment securities: debt instruments 43 (21) – – 

Investment securities: equity instruments 12 (12) 12 (12) 

 INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk is the risk of the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuating because of changes in market 

interest rates.

As the company and the group have entered into various loan and funding agreements, the table below reflects the equity holders’ 

exposure to interest rate risk. The effective interest rate method is used and an interest rate shock of 200bps applied to the underlying 

interest rate. An increase or decrease in the market interest rate would result in the following changes in the profit before tax 

of the group:

R million

GROUP COMPANY

200bps
increase

2018

200bps
decrease

2018

200bps

increase

2017

200bps

decrease

2017

200bps
increase

2018

200bps
decrease

2018

200bps

increase

2017

200bps

decrease

2017

Cash and cash equivalents * * * * * * * *

Loans and receivables * * – – 1 (1) – – 

Investment securities 12 (10) – – – – – – 

Trade payables and 

accrued expenses (1) 1 – – – – – – 

Financial liabilities – – – – 

– Preference shares (17) 17 (1) 1 (9) 9 (1) 1 

– Interest-bearing loans – – (16) 16 – – (16) 16 

* Amount less than R500 000.
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22.  Management of financial risk continued
 OTHER PRICE RISK

Equity risk is the risk of the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuating because of changes in market prices, 

whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 

financial instruments traded in the market.

The group has entered into certain equity investment (listed and unlisted) and equity derivative contracts which are exposed 

to the value of the underlying security.

The table below reflects the equity holders’ exposure to the equity price risk of these underlying securities. A hypothetical 10% increase 

or decrease in the equity prices would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the group:

R million

GROUP COMPANY

10%
increase

2018

10%
decrease

2018

10%

increase

2017

10%

decrease

2017

10%
increase

2018

10%
decrease

2018

10%

increase

2017

10%

decrease

2017

Assets

Financial assets

– Listed shares 20 (20) 21 (21) 20 (20) 21 (21) 

– Unlisted shares 15 (15) 12 (12) – – – – 

Derivative financial 

instrument 29 (29) 10 (10) 29 (29) 10 (10) 

Liabilities

Derivative financial 

instrument – – (16) 16 – – (16) 16 

 CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 

an obligation. The key areas where the group is exposed to credit risk are:

 • Loans and receivables; 

 • Cash and cash equivalents; and 

 • Derivative financial instruments.

No defaults were experienced on loans and receivables.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk. The creditworthiness of existing and potential exposures is monitored quarterly 

at the board meeting. The table below provides information on the credit risk exposure by credit ratings at the year-end 

(where available):

R million BB Not rated

Balance 
as at

30 June
2018 BB+ Not rated

Balance 

as at 

30 June 

2017

GROUP

Cash and cash equivalents 43 – 43 39 – 39 

Loans and receivables – 57 57 – 114 114 

Investment securities – 170 170 – – – 

Derivative financial instruments – 55 55 – 8 8 

43 282 325 39 122 161 

COMPANY

Cash and cash equivalents 38 – 38 33 – 33 

Loans and receivables – 1 1 – 2 2 

Derivative financial instruments – 36 36 – 8 8 

38 37 75 33 10 43 
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22.  Management of financial risk continued
The ratings were obtained from Standard & Poor’s. The ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings 

are not available, the financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. The ratings are defined as follows:

 LONG-TERM INVESTMENT GRADE
 BB

An obligor is less vulnerable in the near term than other lower-rated obligors. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties and 

exposure to adverse business, financial or economic conditions, which could lead to the obligor’s inadequate capacity to meet 

its financial commitments. 

 BB+
An obligation rated ‘BB’ is less vulnerable to non-payment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties 

or exposure to adverse business, financial or economic conditions, which could lead to the obligors’ inadequate capacity to meet 

its financial commitment on the obligation

 Not rated
The credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain assets do not have 

a formal rating.

 Liquidity risk and asset/liability matching
Liquidity risk is the risk that RMH will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. RMH’s liabilities are 

matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid resources to cover its obligations. The group’s liquidity and ability to meet 

cash calls are monitored quarterly at the board meeting. RMH is exposed to roll-over risk in the bracket of two to five years. The 

board is comfortable with this risk, due to the liquidity of its investment in FirstRand and the implementation of a debt programme 

in the prior year.

 Debt programme
During the prior year, RMH implemented a debt programme through its new wholly-owned subsidiary, RMH Treasury Company Limited.

The following is a summary of the significant features:

 • The programme size was set at R15 billion. To increase the size, permission would be required from current funders.

 • The programme contains the following significant redemption events:

 – If RMH decreased is shareholding in FirstRand to below 25.1%;

 – If Remgro decrease its shareholding in RMH to below 25%;

 – If RMH is delisted;

 – If the market capitalisation of RMH decreases by more than 60% in any rolling 12-month period;

 – If the market value to group debt ratio decreases to below 4 times;

 – If there is a change of control in RMH which requires a mandatory offer in term of section 123 of the Companies Act; or

 – If RMH receives a qualified audit opinion.

55

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued



22.  Management of financial risk continued
Funding provided under the debt programme carries a guarantee from RMH Asset Holding Proprietary Limited and RMH.

 CONTRACTUAL DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

R million

GROUP

0 – 6
months

7 – 12
months

2 – 5
years

Over
5 years

Non-
financial Total

As at 30 June 2018

Total assets 467 160 55 – 48 590 49 272 

Total liabilities (81) (151) (2 692) – (25) (2 949) 

NET LIQUIDITY GAP 386 9 (2 637) – 48 565 46 323 

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP 386 395 (2 242) (2 242) 46 323 46 323 

As at 30 June 2017

Total assets 492 – 8 – 43 134 43 634 

Total liabilities (81) – (2 155) (6) (11) (2 253) 

NET GAP 411 – (2 147) (6) 43 123 41 381 

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP 411 411 (1 736) (1 742) 41 381 41 381 

R million

COMPANY

0 – 6
months

7 – 12
months

2 – 5
years

Over 
5 years

Non-
financial Total

As at 30 June 2018

Total assets 245 – 36 – 13 024 13 305 

Total liabilities (1 257) – (1 202) – (17) (2 476) 

NET LIQUIDITY GAP (1 012) – (1 166) – 13 007 10 829 

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP (1 012) (1 012) (2 178) (2 178) 10 829 10 829 

As at 30 June 2017

Total assets 251 – 8 – 12 652 12 911 

Total liabilities (999) – (1 204) – (11) (2 214) 

NET GAP (748) – (1 196) – 12 641 10 697 

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP (748) (748) (1 944) (1 944) 10 697 10 697 
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22.  Management of financial risk continued
 UNDISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

R million

GROUP

0 – 6
months

7 – 12
months

2 – 5
years Total

As at 30 June 2018

Financial liabilities 92 90 2 742 2 924 

Trade and other payables 74 158 – 232 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 166 248 2 742 3 156 

As at 30 June 2017

Financial liabilities 98 78 2 445 2 621 

Derivative liabilities – – 6 6 

Long-term liabilities – – 1 1 

Trade and other payables 81 – – 81 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 179 78 2 452 2 709 

R million

COMPANY

0 – 6
months

7 – 12
months

2 – 5
years Total

As at 30 June 2018

Financial liabilities 43 43 1 276 1 362 

Trade and other payables 1 257 – – 1 257 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 300 43 1 276 2 619 

As at 30 June 2017

Financial liabilities 59 44 1 352 1 455 

Derivative liabilities – – 6 6 

Long-term liabilities – – 1 1 

Trade and other payables 999 – – 999 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 058 44 1 359 2 461 
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22.  Management of financial risk continued
The following table analyses the assets in the statement of financial position per category of financial instrument and, therefore, 

by measurement basis according to when the assets are expected to be realised:

R million

As at 30 June 2018

GROUP

Held-for-
trading

Loans 
and

 receivables

Available-
for-sale

assets

Non-
financial

 instrument

Total 
carrying

 value Current
Non-

current

Cash and cash equivalents – 43 – – 43 43 – 
Loans and receivables – 57 – – 57 57 – 
Investment securities 202 170 151 – 523 523 – 
Derivative financial instruments 55 – – – 55 – 55 
Taxation receivable – 4 – – 4 4 – 
Investment in associates – – – 48 590 48 590 – 48 590 

TOTAL ASSETS 257 274 151 48 590 49 272 627 48 645 

As at 30 June 2018

COMPANY

R million

Held-for-
trading

Loans 
and

 receivables

Available-
for-sale

assets

Non-
financial

 instrument

Total 
carrying

 value Current
Non-

current

Cash and cash equivalents – 38 – – 38 38 – 
Loans and receivables – 1 – – 1 1 – 
Investment securities 202 – – – 202 202 – 
Derivative financial instruments 36 – – – 36 – 36 
Taxation receivable – 4 – – 4 4 – 
Investment in subsidiaries – – – 13 024 13 024 – 13 024 

TOTAL ASSETS 238 43 – 13 024 13 305 245 13 060 

R million

As at 30 June 2017

GROUP

Held-for-

trading

Loans 

and

 receivables

Available-

for-sale

assets

Non-

financial

 instrument

Total 

carrying

 value Current

Non-

current

Cash and cash equivalents – 39 – – 39 39 – 
Loans and receivables – 114 – – 114 50 64 
Investment securities 211 – 123 – 334 334 – 
Derivative financial instruments 8 – – – 8 – 8 
Deferred tax asset – – – 4 4 4 – 
Taxation receivable – 5 – – 5 5 – 
Investment in associates – – – 43 130 43 130 – 43 130 

TOTAL ASSETS 219 158 123 43 134 43 634 432 43 202 

As at 30 June 2017

COMPANY

R million

Held-for-

trading

Loans 

and

 receivables

Available-

for-sale

assets

Non-

financial

 instrument

Total 

carrying

 value Current

Non-

current

Cash and cash equivalents – 33 – – 33 33 – 
Loans and receivables – 2 – – 2 2 – 
Investment securities 211 – – – 211 211 – 
Derivative financial instruments 8 – – – 8 – 8 
Taxation receivable – 5 – – 5 5 – 
Investment in subsidiaries – – – 12 652 12 652 – 12 652 

TOTAL ASSETS 219 40 – 12 652 12 911 251 12 660 
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22.  Management of financial risk continued
The following table analyses the liabilities in the statement of financial position per category of financial instrument and, therefore, 

by measurement basis according to when the liabilities are expected to be realised:

R million

As at 30 June 2018

GROUP

Held-for-
trading

Financial
 liabilities at
 amortised

 cost

Non-
financial

 instrument

Total 
carrying

 value Current
Non-

current

Trade and other payables – 232 – 232 232 – 

Financial liabilities – 2 692 2 692 – 2 692 

Deferred tax liability – – 25 25 – 25 

TOTAL LIABILITIES – 2 924 25 2 949 232 2 717 

As at 30 June 2018

COMPANY

R million

Held-for-
trading

Financial
 liabilities at
 amortised

 cost

Non-
financial

 instrument

Total 
carrying

 value Current
Non-

current

Trade and other payables – 1 257 – 1 257 1 257 – 

Financial liabilities – 1 202 1 202 22 1 180 

Deferred tax liability – – 17 17 – 17 

TOTAL LIABILITIES – 2 459 17 2 476 1 279 1 197 

R million

As at 30 June 2017

GROUP

Held-for-

trading

Financial

 liabilities at

 amortised

 cost

Non-

financial

 instrument

Total 

carrying

 value Current

Non-

current

Trade and other payables – 81 – 81 81 – 

Financial liabilities – 2 154 2 154 – 2 154 

Derivative financial instruments 6 – – 6 – 6 

Long-term liabilities – – 1 1 – 1 

Deferred tax liability – – 11 11 – 11 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 2 235 12 2 253 81 2 172 

R million

As at 30 June 2017

COMPANY

Held-for-

trading

Financial

 liabilities at

 amortised

 cost

Non-

financial

 instrument

Total 

carrying

 value Current

Non-

current

Trade and other payables – 999 – 999 999 – 

Financial liabilities – 1 197 – 1 197 – 1 197 

Derivative financial instruments 6 – – 6 – 6 

Long-term liabilities – – 1 1 – 1 

Deferred tax liability – – 11 11 – 11 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 2 196 12 2 214 999 1 215 
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22.  Management of financial risk continued
 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

RMH is not regulated by the Financial Sector Regulation Act, Act 9 of 2017, and does not have to meet any minimum regulatory 

capital requirements. Capital is therefore managed within a set risk appetite, taking into account the capital requirements 

of the group.

RMH’s objectives when managing capital are:

 • To safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for equity holders 

and benefits for other stakeholders; and

 • To provide an adequate return to equity holders by pricing insurance commensurately with the level of risk.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, RMH may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 

to shareholders, issue new shares or realise assets to reduce debt.

Management regard share capital, share premium, retained earnings, contingency reserves, as well as a portion of the unrealised 

profit in the listed associate as capital when managing capital and determining debt/equity ratios. During the year, the group’s 

strategy remained unchanged. Refer to the statement of changes in equity for details regarding the group’s capital.

23.  Share-based payment 
 RMH OWNERSHIP PARTICIPATION STRUCTURE

During the current year, RMH implemented an ownership participation structure upon the activation of the portfolio and the 

establishment of the RMH Property portfolio. The aim of the structure is to align the interests of management with those of shareholders 

and establish a long-term focus. The scheme had no financial impact during the current year. 

 Description of the scheme
The purpose of this scheme is to provide participants, including executive directors, with the opportunity to participate in the creation 

of long-term value in the RMH Property portfolio after RMH has been compensated for the capital it provides. The scheme rewards the 

participants in accordance with the outperformance of the relevant investments over a hurdle rate and supports long-term retention.

Vesting occurs on day one and the structure has no exercise period. There are no further performance conditions attached, other 

than those implied in the valuation methodology.

Monetisation of the structure occurs after ten years through a put option to RMH, available for 365 days, or through the realisation 

of the underlying investment, whichever occurs first. The board has discretion concerning:

 • The allocation per individual participant;

 • The hurdle rate per individual participant per individual allocation;

 • Good leaver principles, should a participant leave before the monetisation of the underlying investment; and

 • The maximum exposure provided to the participants.

 VALUATION METHODOLOGY
The following approach is followed:

 Step 1 – Determine the value of the underlying investment
Underlying investments are valued using market-accepted valuation methodologies such as discounted cash flow models, where a 

discount rate is determined taking into account specific risks relating to the underlying investments, or a price/earnings methodology, 

where a market-related ratio is applied. Investments can be valued using a combination of valuation methodologies, depending 

on the nature of the underlying investment.

 Step 2 – Determine value per share
A value per share is determined by dividing the proportionate value of the underlying investment by the number of shares.

 Step 3 – Calculate cost per share
A cost per share is then calculated by taking the capital amount injected and accruing the agreed upon hurdle rate on the amount. 

These numbers are added and divided by the number of shares.
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23.  Share-based payment continued
 Step 4 – Determine the value of the liability

The value per share calculated in Step 2 is reduced by the value per share calculated in Step 3. The determined value is then 

multiplied by the number of shares issued to participants to determine the value of the liability. An increase in the value of the liability 

leads to the charge of a share-based payment expense in profit and loss. If the value of the liability decreases, a negative share-

based payment expense is charged to profit and loss.

RMH ownership  

participation structure

2018 2017

Range of value per share R724 to R478k – 

Range of cost per share R724 to R478k – 

Total number of shares issued to participants 1 282 800 – 

Further detail of the scheme is included in the directors’ affairs and governance committee report in the annual integrated report 

available on www.rmh.co.za.
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